
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 15 June 2020. 
 01476 406080

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 23 June 2020 at 10.30 am
This meeting will be held by remote conferencing using 

Skype for Business

Committee 
Members:

Chairman to be confirmed at the Council meeting on 16 July 2020
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman)

1 vacancy, Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor Gloria Johnson, 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield and Councillor Mrs Judy Smith

Invited 
Cabinet 

Members

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 

Agenda
Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar.

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link:

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 23 June 2020

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 
before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 
desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser.

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 
meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 
Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 
they would like to speak.

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk.

Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/FNCZ0C59
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


1.  Comments from Members of the public
To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion

2.  Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence

3.  Disclosure of Interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting

4.  Action Notes from the meeting held on 25 February 2020
For confirmation

(Pages 3 - 12)

5.  Updates from the previous meeting

6.  Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
Report detailing changes to the Hackney Carriage Licensing Policy, ahead of 
Cabinet approval for consultation

(Pages 13 - 110)

7.  Update from the Climate Change Task and Finish Group - 16 June 2020
Verbal Update from the Chair of the Climate Change Task & Finish Group, 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley

(Verbal Report)

8.  Re-wilding Pilot Scheme
A verbal update on consultations and progress on the re-wilding pilot scheme 
since the last meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

(Verbal Report)

9.  2020/21 Committee Work Programme
To populate the draft Work Programme for the Committee for the 2020/21 
municipal year

(Pages 111 - 113)

10.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Meeting of the
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 25 February 2020, 10.00 am

Committee Members present

Councillor Chris Benn (Chairman)
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Phil Dilks

Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith

Cabinet Members

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Officers

Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith)
Assistant Director, Commercial and Operations (Ian Yates)
Head of Environmental (Anne-Marie Coulthard)
Grounds Maintenance Co-ordinator (Lynne Lord)
Head of Development Management (Sylvia Bland)
Assistant Planning Officer (Hannah Noutch)
Assets Manager (Chris Pike)
Sustainability and Climate Change Officer (Serena Brown)
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West)
Democratic Officer (Naomi Page)

33. Comments from Members of the public

A member of the public wished to make a comment relating to item 11 on the 
agenda (Trees in South Kesteven). He expressed concern about a series of 
tree felling works that had occurred at the Grantham relief road site and asked 
why they had been undertaken and if an environmental impact survey had 
been carried out. 

The Head of Development Management explained that the Council had 
granted planning permission in 2015 for phase three of the Grantham relief 
road. Pre-commencement enabling works were currently being undertaken in 

3

Agenda Item 4



preparation for the construction work, which was anticipated to begin in the 
summer. The felling of the trees under discussion had been allowed under the 
planning permission. Mitigation works would be required as set out in the 
planning decision documents; these would include replanting. Further 
information could be provided regarding the surveys completed and the 
planned mitigation works for phase three of the Grantham relief road following 
the meeting.

Another member of the public made a comment relating to item 27 of the 
previous meeting’s action notes. She referred to the recommendation made to 
Cabinet that the Council’s decision making and report templates were 
changed to include a carbon and climate change impact assessment and 
suggested that consideration be given to expanding this further to include the 
wider environmental impact of decisions. 

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations explained that the 
introduction of the carbon and climate change impact assessment had been 
requested in relation to the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency, and 
as such, was intended to assess specific carbon-related information which 
may affect the achievement of the Council’s carbon reduction target. The 
member of the public wished to expand on her comment outside of the 
meeting and it was confirmed that the Chair would follow up her enquiry.

The members of the public were thanked for their interest and the comments 
made.

34. Apologies

There had been no apologies for absence received. 

35. Disclosure of Interests

No interests were disclosed.

36. Action Notes from the meeting held on 26 November 2019

The action notes of the meeting held on 26 November 2019 were noted and 
agreed as a correct record. 

37. Updates from the previous meeting

The Chair outlined the action points and recommendations from the last 
meeting of the Committee and confirmed that they were all in progress, or had 
been completed. 

Further detail was given regarding some of the items considered:

4



 It was confirmed that the report and decision making templates had 
been amended to include the carbon and climate change impact 
assessment. Any future reports would only be accepted if the updated 
template had been used. 

 No suggestions had been received regarding potential waste 
management performance indicators for the Committee to consider. 
The Chair confirmed that he would ask officers to look at developing 
these, with a view to considering this item again at the next meeting of 
the Committee. One Member expressed a desire to assist in the 
development of the performance indicators to be considered and was 
asked to contact the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
to make arrangements for this.

38. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy

The Chair presented the slides providing an outline of the outcomes from the 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy workshop, which had 
been jointly held by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
the Licensing Committee. 

Members were asked if they had any comments or questions relating to the 
workshop conclusions.

Members supported the suggestion to incorporate the use of e-cigarettes and 
vaping devices in licensed vehicles under the SKDC penalty point scheme. 
One Member requested that when amending the policy to include the use of 
these devices, steps should be taken to future-proof the policy, by wording it in 
such a way to include any similar products which may be developed.

Action Point
 
 The Chair to consult with the Chair of the Licensing Committee to 

ensure that all types of e-cigarettes and vaping devices (including 
any newly developed products) are incorporated into the SKDC 
penalty point scheme.

The Committee asked for an explanation as to the intended governance 
process moving forward for the updated Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy. The Head of Environmental confirmed that following the 
present meeting of the Committee, a draft policy would be developed to 
encompass any recommended amendments. This pre-consultation draft 
would be presented to the Committee at its next meeting, with the aim that it 
then be recommended to the Cabinet for consultation. Once the draft policy 
was approved by Cabinet, a six-week public consultation period would then 
commence. Any amendments needed due to feedback received from the 
consultation would be incorporated into a post consultation draft policy. This 
final draft would then be presented to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

5



Committee for it to consider recommending the amended Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing Policy to Cabinet for approval. 

Members discussed the Council’s role in encouraging environmental 
sustainability and considered whether there was an opportunity to offer an 
increased annual vehicle licence discount for zero emissions vehicles. There 
was a suggestion that the 20% annual licence discount for LPG (Liquid 
Petroleum Gas), hybrid and ultra-low emissions vehicles be maintained, but 
that the discount for zero emissions (including electric) vehicles be increased 
to 50%. The benefits and limitations of introducing tiered discount rates were 
considered. Members also discussed the environmental impact of the 
suggestions arising from the workshop regarding vehicle age limits.

Recommendations

 That the updated draft policy include two tiers of annual licence 
discounts; a 20% discount for LPG, hybrid and ultra-low emission 
vehicles and a 50% discount for electric and zero emissions 
vehicles. 

 That the maximum vehicle age for a first licence to be attained be 
decreased from 7 to 5 years in the updated draft policy.

 That the licensed vehicle age limit be extended from 10 to 12 years 
for wheelchair accessible vehicles, hybrid, ultra-low and zero 
emission vehicles.

 
Members referred to the workshop conclusion regarding engine idling at taxi 
ranks and the potential for SKDC penalty points to be used to deter this 
behaviour. It was noted that enforcing this measure could present challenges, 
but the Committee requested that the possibility be further explored by 
officers. 

Action Point
  
 Officers to investigate the possibility of using SKDC penalty 

points for engine idling at taxi ranks, and to include any such 
penalty point criteria in the draft policy if feasible.

The Committee supported the workshop conclusions regarding driver 
knowledge and language proficiency. Members discussed the importance of 
the Council’s role as the licensing authority in ensuring that taxi drivers’ 
knowledge of English was sufficient to allow them to effectively respond to and 
manage emergency situations. One Member felt that the exemption criteria for 
an English language test should be extended to include those who had been 
educated in an English education system but had not achieved any formal 
qualifications.

Action Point

6



 Officers to consider extending the criteria by which an applicant is 
exempt from the English language test to include having being 
educated in an English speaking school or institution, to 
accommodate those who have not achieved qualifications, and to 
include this in the draft policy if feasible.

Recommendation

 That the existing local knowledge and arithmetic tests be 
maintained in the policy, with an externally provided English 
language test to be introduced for all new drivers and for any 
existing drivers where there are concerns. Applicants with a 
qualification taught and examined in English to be exempt from 
the test and the cost of the test to be passed to the applicants.     

39. Update from the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented the slides 
giving an update of the priorities arising from the work of the Climate Change 
Action Task and Finish Group, with options for the Committee to consider 
regarding LED (Light Emitting Diode) lighting and paper reduction. Members 
were asked if they had any comments or questions arising from the 
presentation.

The Committee expressed their support for the installation of LED lighting as 
standard in the offices at St Peter’s Hill and South Kesteven House. During 
discussion, Members explored the potential for the installation initiative to be 
rolled out further to include other Council owned properties. Officers confirmed 
that the roll-out of LED lighting was considered an important aspect of the 
Council’s work regarding its climate change targets. However, the cost of 
installation and corresponding payback periods needed to be taken into 
consideration. It was felt that priority should be given to facilitating the 
installation works in the identified key buildings, before exploring further 
options.  

Recommendation

• To recommended to Cabinet that arrangements be made to install 
LED lighting in the Council offices at St Peters Hill and South 
Kesteven House. The project to include three components; bulb 
replacements (where possible in existing fittings), replacement 
fittings (where current fittings aren’t suitable) and the installation 
of compatible motion sensors.

Action Point

7



 Officers to explore the potential for extending the installation of 
LED lighting to other Council owned buildings as part of the wider 
carbon improvement plan.

 
Members discussed the potential for paper reduction across the Council, 
focusing on Members’ administration tasks and the use of report papers at 
meetings. It was suggested that the Chairs of Committees be asked to 
encourage members of their Committees to reduce their use of paper at 
meetings. However, it was acknowledged that Committees had varying 
requirements and that some use of paper would be necessary, particularly in 
relation to the Planning Committee. Other options considered included the 
potential for the Council to purchase the confidential component of the 
ModernGov software, the purchase and use of environmentally friendly paper 
stock where possible and the introduction of a small number of electronic 
devices for members of the public to view report papers at meetings.   
 
Action points

 All Councillor administration tasks to be undertaken in soft copy 
where possible. 

 All Committee Chairs to be asked to encourage their membership 
to go paper free where practical, giving due consideration to 
accessibility needs. 

 Officers to investigate options for utilising more environmentally 
friendly paper where practical.

 That the cost of investing in the private component of ModernGov 
be investigated. The Committee to be updated as to whether the 
purchase of this additional tool is already underway. 

 The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations to arrange 
for a small number of devices to be purchased to trial the use of 
electronic devices for members of the public to view agendas at 
meetings.

The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer presented some additional 
slides relating to the work the Carbon Trust were undertaking to calculate the 
Council’s carbon emissions baseline. The Committee was asked to consider 
the proposed methodology and categories of carbon emissions and put 
forward any requests for changes to those included and excluded from the 
baseline measurement, to feed into the current phase of work. 

Members discussed the advantages and disadvantages of amending the 
included scope to encompass leisure centres within the district. Officers 
explained that it was not standard practice to include this type of scope 3 
emission. A number of members of the Committee felt that including leisure 
centres in the scope would demonstrate the Council’s commitment as a 
community leader in achieving its target of reducing the organisation’s carbon 
footprint by at least 30% by 2030. Consideration was given to concerns raised 
that the Council had a limited capacity to directly affect the leisure centres’ 

8



carbon emissions. A vote was taken, and the Committee agreed to 
recommended that the leisure centres be included within the carbon footprint 
baseline.  
 
Recommendations

• That Leisure Centres (scope 3 emissions) be included in the 
calculation of the Council’s baseline and reduction target of at 
least 30% by 2030.

• That the outlined methodology of included and excluded scope 1, 
2 and 3 emissions against the Council’s baseline reduction of at 
least 30% by 2030 is approved, subject to the above amendment.

40. Single use plastic aspirations

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented the slides 
relating to the use of single use plastics at South Kesteven District Council. 
The Committee was reminded of the Council’s aim to reduce waste where 
possible. Members were asked if they had any questions regarding the 
presentation or suggestions as to how the Council could discourage the use of 
single use plastics and promote alternatives. 

The Committee considered the potential to include specific reference to the 
use of single use plastics in procurement contracts. It was also suggested that 
the operational aspect of the Council’s services be considered as an area to 
reduce single use plastics. 

During discussion, the Committee referred to the promotion of publicly 
available water refill stations. It was suggested that the Council’s water 
dispenser in the Customer Services area be publicised to encourage the use 
of refillable bottles. One Member also enquired as to whether the conduit on 
Conduit Street was Council owned and the feasibility for this to be repaired. 
The Committee requested that the single use plastics item be considered 
again at a future meeting, with a report to consider potential areas for 
reduction and suggested alternatives. 

Action Points

 Officers to consult with the Procurement Officer and investigate 
the feasibility of including requirements regarding the use of 
single use plastics in future contracts. 

 Officers to investigate whether the conduit in Conduit Street is 
Council owned. If it is confirmed to be so, the possibility of 
repairing the conduit to be considered. 

 That the single use plastics item be added to the Committee’s 
work programme for a future meeting, with a report to be 
developed to explore the potential for the reduction of single use 

9



plastics in Council owned buildings and to consider viable 
alternatives.

41. Food Waste Collection and Disposal

The Committee were presented with slides giving an update on the food waste 
collection trial. The trial had been funded by the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership, and as such, the decision as to whether the trial would be 
extended further would be a partnership decision. Members were invited to 
make comments or ask questions relating to the presentation.

Members of the Committee expressed positive support for the food waste 
collection trial and asked about the potential for the service to be extended 
district-wide. It was explained that a district-wide food waste collection service 
would incur a significant cost to the Council if funded independently. Any 
financial benefits to the disposal authority (Lincolnshire County Council) would 
need to be invested to support the collection authority (South Kesteven District 
Council) for such a service to be viable. The future of food waste collection 
services would potentially be influenced by changes in government legislation. 

Recommendation

 To recommend to Cabinet that the success of, and support for, the 
current Food Waste Trial is noted and that any effort to continue 
the trial and move towards a more permanent arrangement is 
endorsed.

42. Trees in South Kesteven

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations introduced the item by 
presenting slides on trees in the district. The slides updated the Committee on 
the recent steps the Council had taken to protect and promote the planting of 
trees in the district and outlined the typical carbon sequestration values and 
costs of planting trees.

The Committee was then presented with slides relating to Tree Preservation 
Orders (TPOs). The Head of Development Management explained the 
process undertaken when applying for a TPO and the factors taken into 
consideration when the Council made its decision as to whether a TPO would 
be granted. Following a recent project, all TPOs were now available to view on 
the Council’s website. The four types of TPO were outlined and the legal 
guidance relating to TPOs was explained. A TPO review project was planned 
for 2020. The services of an external organisation would be procured to 
undertake the project and it was anticipated that it would take up to two years 
to complete. 

Members were given a final presentation relating to rewilding and natural 
meadows. Options were presented with potential sites for rewilding to be 

10



introduced, with the aim of increasing biodiversity and creating wildlife 
corridors. 

The Committee were asked if they had any questions relating to the slides 
presented for the ‘Trees in South Kesteven’ item.

 Members expressed their support for the introduction of the proposed 
rewilding areas, one for each town.

 One Member asked why the introduction of hedges had not been 
included in the options for rewilding areas. Officers explained that they 
were asked by the Committee to look at grass and meadow rewilding, 
but the costs of hedge planting could be investigated.

 The Committee asked if there were specific processes to govern the 
management of mature trees, particularly when they posed a risk to 
public safety. It was explained that the management of trees was the 
responsibility of the landowner. If a tree with a TPO became 
dangerous, the landowner could apply to carry out works to rectify the 
issue.

 Members asked if there was potential for the Council to do more to 
protect trees, referring to the requirement for one sapling to be planted 
in place of any mature tree with a TPO that had been felled. Officers 
explained that in some cases TPOs protected a group of trees. If a 
group of trees required felling, a group of saplings would be required to 
replace them. It was also highlighted that in the majority of cases, 
landowners could be expected to maintain trees adequately and that 
placing TPOs on well managed land was usually unnecessary. 

 One Member asked for the number of trees with TPOs in Deeping St 
James to be circulated to the Committee.

 Members noted the planned TPO review and requested that the 
Committee be updated regarding its progress. 

Action Points

 Officers to assess the indicative costs of planting and maintaining 
hedges on Council owned land and update the Committee at a 
future meeting (to be added to the Work Programme). 

 Officers to email information regarding the number of TPOs in 
Deeping St James to members of the Committee.

 The Committee to receive an email update during the planned Tree 
Protection Order review and feedback when the review is 
complete, detailing any amendments that have been made as a 
result of the review.

Recommendation

 That the potential rewilding initiatives, one per town, are 
supported and officers are asked to take the initiatives forward in 
consultation with stakeholders.

11



43. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent

The Scrutiny Officer outlined the upcoming items for the April meeting of the 
Committee. There would be a presentation from the Internal Drainage Board 
in addition to items relating to boiler replacement and plumbing options, the 
SKDC Cycle to Work Scheme, environmental performance indicators, the pre-
consultation draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy and a 
review of the 2020/21 work programme.  

44. Close of the meeting

The meeting closed at 13:47. 

12



Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
23 June 2020

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations

        

Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy
This report proposes a number of changes to the existing policy to reflect changes to guidance and 
recommendations from a Member workshop. The revised draft policy forms the basis for 
consultation with the hackney carriage and private hire trades and the public.  

Report Author

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental

01476 406319

a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Competitiveness Regulatory All Wards

Reviewed by: Ian Yates
Assistant Director, Commercial and Operations 

9 June 2020

Approved by: Gary Smith 
Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations

9 June 2020

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 12 June 2020

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Considers the draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy and agrees 
it, with or without amendments, as a basis for consultation.

2. Recommends to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations that the draft 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy is suitable for consultation.

13

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The current policy was adopted on 1 April 2015. The Policy is fundamental to protecting 

public safety and keeping people from harm and provides the framework upon which the 
Authority delivers its statutory functions relating to hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing.  The current policy has been reviewed to ensure it reflects current guidance and 
continues to be fit for purpose, whilst also promoting improvements which support 
environmental sustainability. 

1.2 On 23 January 2020 members of the Licensing Committee and the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee held a joint workshop to consider 3 key areas of the Policy; 
environmental sustainability, driver knowledge and language proficiency, and the use of e-
cigarettes and vaping devices. 

1.3 Feedback from the workshop was provided to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee by its Chair at their 25 February 2020 meeting. The revised draft policy which 
encompasses this feedback and other amendments with “track changes” is at Appendix 1.  

1.4 The proposed changes considered by Members and other proposed changes are detailed 
below;

 Environmental Sustainability (vehicle emissions) 

 Decrease the maximum vehicle age at first licence from 7 to 5 years

 Extended the vehicle age limit from 10 to 12 years for ultra-low and zero emissions 
vehicles (also includes wheelchair accessible vehicles)

 Introduce a 50% discount off the vehicle licence fee for electric and zero emissions 
vehicles (maintain 20% for ultra-low and wheelchair accessible vehicles)

 Vehicle idling on a rank/stand to be to be included in the local penalty points scheme 

 Driver knowledge and language proficiency

 Introduce an externally provided English language test for applicants who cannot 
demonstrate a qualification taught and examined in English 

 Determining a “fit and proper” person to hold a licence

 Inclusion of details relating to eligibility to live and work in the UK

 Requirement to undertake a 3-yearly refresher of the Safeguarding and Child 
Exploitation training 

 Requirement to subscribe to the Disclosure Barring Service Online Update Service 
throughout the currency of the licence 

 Update of the policy relating to the relevancy of convictions  

 General

 Use of e-cigarettes, vaping or other similar devices in the vehicle to be treated the 
same as smoking in the local penalty points scheme

 Alignment of the 6 monthly vehicle compliance test to reflect changes to MOT defect 
types and that if categorised as dangerous it must not be driven from the date of that 
test regardless of whether or not the previous certificate has expired

 Requirements under the Equality Act 2010 in relation to the Authority’s published list 
of wheelchair accessible vehicles 

14



 Holders of EC (European Community) or EEA (European Economic Area) driving 
licences must register their non-GB licence with the DVLA

 Procedure for the licensing of vehicles that have been involved in an accident or 
written off

 Requirement to notify the Authority if CCTV is fitted or removed

 Update to data sharing and handling of personal information 
1.5 Whilst there is no legal duty placed on the Council to consult on this policy, it is good practice 

to do so and is in line with the Department for Transport’s ‘Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best Practice Guidance’ (March 2010).

1.6 It is proposed that a 4-week public consultation be undertaken which will focus on the 
hackney carriage and private hire trade alongside the general public and other relevant 
stakeholders, including the Authority’s Licensing Committee. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Licensing Committee and the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee held a 

joint workshop in January 2020. The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
received an update and had the opportunity to comment further on 25 February 2020.  

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The legislation that controls the licensing of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, 

drivers and operators, does not contain provisions that directly require the Authority to 
publish a hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy. However, without a policy, the 
Authority will fail in fulfilling elements of the Regulators’ Code and Officers and Members of 
the Licensing Committee will find it difficult to make appropriate and consistent licensing 
decisions. 

3.2 The Authority could continue with the existing policy without the proposed amendments, 
however, some minor updates will still be necessary to comply with national guidance. 

4 Preferred Option
4.1 The adoption of a revised policy which protects the public and supports consistent and 

transparent decision making.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 The policy supports the Authority in fulfilling its statutory duties associated with the 

licensing of the hackney carriage and private hire trades. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Following agreement by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, the draft 

revised policy will be subject to a 4 week public consultation. Following consideration of 
any feedback, the final draft will be presented to Cabinet for approval. 

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with the recommendations in this 

report. The costs associated with delivering the Licensing service are recovered through 
licensing fees which are reviewed annually by the Council.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 

15



8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 Whilst each individual licensing application or enforcement decision will be judged on its 

own merits, a Policy ensures a transparent and consistent approach to licensing that will 
reduce the opportunity for challenge through the Courts. Any departure from the Policy 
should be based on material evidence and documented giving clear and compelling 
reasons.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken and has not identified any significant 

negative implications. See Appendix 2.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 No significant risks have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 It is important that someone using a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle can do so 

safely.  The licensing process ensures that drivers and operators are “fit and proper” persons 
to hold licences and have undergone criminal record and other checks. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 
Council’s declaration of a ‘climate emergency’?

12.1 There is significant national drive to improve air quality. Motor vehicle emissions are the 
primary cause of poor air quality and there continues to be a significant drive to improve air 
quality. 

12.2 The draft policy proposes a reduction in the age of newly licensed vehicles from 7 to 5 years, 
this will result in a newer fleet with improved emissions to Euro 6 standards.

12.3 The introduction of local penalty points associated with unnecessary idling on ranks/stands 
provides and additional mechanism to support the reduction of vehicle emissions. 

12.4 The draft policy encourages the use of zero and low emission vehicles by reducing the 
licence fee for such vehicles.  

13 Other Implications (where significant) 
13.1 No other significant implications have been identified. 

14 Background Papers
14.1 None

15 Appendices
15.1 Appendix 1 – Draft revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (with 

tracked changes)

15.2 Appendix 2 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment

16



Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

18 May 2020

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

25 February 2020

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  To be confirmed

17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

 

 
Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 
2020 

 
 
 

19

Appendix 1



 

2 
 

CONTENTS 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES .......................................................................... 3 

PART 1 INTRODUCTION ....................................................................... 4 

PART 2 VEHICLES ............................................................................... 7 

PART 3 DRIVERS .............................................................................. 17 

PART 4 PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS...................................................... 23 

PART 5 DISCIPLINARY AND ENFORCEMENT MEASURES .......................... 25 

PART 6 OFFENCES ............................................................................ 27 

PART 7 DELEGATED POWERS ............................................................. 27 

PART 8 FARES .................................................................................. 27 

PART 9 FEES .................................................................................... 28 

PART 10 HACKNEY CARRIAGE STANDS ................................................ 29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Version Date  Summary of changes 
V1 27 March 2015 Approved 
V1.1 30 September 2015 Update to licence periods 

following Deregulation Act 
2015 

V1.2 8 June 2017 Inclusion of requirement 
for Safeguarding training  

V2 8 June 2020 Draft - full policy review  
 
 

20



 

3 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES  
 
 
 

Appendix A  Vehicle Specifications and Conditions of Licence for 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 
 

34                                                                                                     

Appendix B Additional Conditions for Private Hire Limousines  
 

44 

Appendix C Application Procedures – Vehicles and Drivers  51 

Appendix D Convictions Policy 
 

58 

Appendix E Drivers - Private Hire Driver Licence Conditions  66 

Appendix F Drivers – Hackney Carriage Byelaws  70 

Appendix G Drivers – Code of Good Conduct  75 

Appendix H Private Hire Operator Licence Conditions  79 

Appendix I Enforcement Policy & Practice  82 

Appendix J Penalty Points Scheme  83 

Appendix K Exemption from displaying plate 89 

     
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deleted: Drivers - 

21



 

4 
 

PART 1 INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1  Powers and Duties 
 
1.1.1  The licensing of hackney carriages dates back to 1847 and for private hire vehicles     

(outside London) to 1976.  
 
1.1.2  The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”), as 

amended, places on South Kesteven District Council, as the Licensing Authority 
(“the Authority”), a duty to carry out its licensing functions in respect of hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles. 

 
1.1.3  This document sets out the policy that the Authority will apply when making 

decisions about new applications and licences currently in force.  
 
1.1.4  Regulation makes our society more secure. It protects customers and employees, 

it protects businesses and it protects the environment. Better regulation means 
maintaining and improving customer protection and at the same time providing 
the right environment for business to thrive. It shall be undertaken in a way that 
is effective, does not create unnecessary burdens, and is consistent, transparent, 
proportionate, accountable and fair. 

 
1.2  Objectives  
 
1.2.1  Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles play a vital and integral part in an 

integrated transport system. They also provide services in situations where other 
forms of transport are either not available (rural areas and late evenings) or for 
persons with mobility difficulties.    

 
The Authority shall seek to promote the following objectives:  

 
 the protection of the public;  
 the establishment of professional and respected hackney carriage and private 

hire trades;  
 access to an efficient and effective public transport service;  
 the protection of the environment;  
 the safety of the drivers 

 
1.2.2  The Authority aims to regulate the service in order to promote the above 

objectives. It is the Authority’s wish to facilitate well-run and responsible 
businesses, which display sensitivity to the wishes and needs of the general 
public. 

 
1.2.3  When considering each of the policies detailed in this document, regard has been 

given to the Regulators’ Code  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code in order to ensure 
that each requirement is properly justified by the risk it seeks to address, 
balancing the cost of the requirement against the benefit to the public.   

 

Deleted: Statutory Code of Practice for Regulators

Deleted: http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file45019.pdf

22



 

5 
 

1.3  Best Practice Guidance  
 
1.3.1  In formulating this policy, the Authority has had regard to the following 

documents: 
 

 Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance issued by the 
Department for Transport (DfT) (March 2010) 

 Best Practice Guidance to Inspection of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicles issued by the Freight Standards Association (August 2012) 

 Guidance on Determining the Suitability of Applicants and Licensees in the 
Hackney and Private Hire Trades produced by the Institute of Licensing (April  
2018) 

 
 1.4  Status  
 

1.4.1  In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Authority 
shall have regard to this policy document and the objectives set out above in 1.2.  

 
1.4.2  Notwithstanding the existence of this policy, each application or enforcement 

measure will be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the 
Authority to depart substantially from its policy - clear and compelling reasons 
shall be given for doing so.  

 
1.5  Implementation  
 
1.5.1  This revised policy shall take effect from DATE OF POLICY APPROVAL and the 

Authority expects new and existing applicants for licences to comply with its terms 
immediately unless specifically detailed otherwise within this policy 

 
1.5.2  The Authority will keep this policy under review and will consult where appropriate 

on proposed revisions. Minor amendments to ensure content is up to date but that 
do not affect the intent of the policy such as contacts, web addresses etc. will be 
delegated to Officers.  

  
1.5.3  From the effective date, this policy will override and supersede all existing policies 

in relation to hackney carriage and private hire licensing.  
 
1.6  Licensing Profile  
 
1.6.1 A hackney carriage is a public transport vehicle with no more than 8 passenger 

seats, which is licensed to ply for hire. This means that it may stand at ranks or 
be hailed in the street by members of the public. A Private hire vehicle can only be 
licensed if it is constructed or adapted to seat up to 8 passengers.  Private Hire 
vehicles must be booked in advance by customers through an operator and may 
not ply for hire in the street.  

 
1.6.2  The Authority currently licences approximately 340 hackney carriages, 28 private 

hire vehicles and 25 private hire operators.  
 

Deleted: ¶
advice contained in the Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best Practice Guidance issued by the 
Department for Transport has assisted the Authority 
together with local circumstances and operational 
requirements.¶

Deleted: 1 April 2015 

Deleted: 286

Deleted: 7

Deleted: 16

23



 

6 
 

1.6.3  There are approximately 275 drivers licensed to drive hackney carriages, 41 
licensed to drive private hire vehicles and 109 licensed to drive both (dual 
licensed).  

 
1.7  Consultation  
 
1.7.1  In reviewing this policy the Authority has consulted with the following 

stakeholders:-  
• Licence holders;  
• Lincolnshire Police; 
• General public;  
• Other Authority services. 

 
1.8  Partnership Working  
 
1.8.1 The Authority will work in partnership with other agencies to promote the policy 

objectives.  
 
1.9  Information Sharing and Data Protection  
 
1.9.1  The Authority works in partnership with other enforcement 

agencies such as the Police, HM Revenue and Customs, Home Office, DVSA, 
Department of Work and Pensions, Benefit Fraud etc. and will share information 
with other Council departments or regulatory bodies where appropriate.  

 
1.9.2  The Authority is legally required to provide information if requested, 

pursuant to a criminal offence, or to detect fraud, or immigration offences. 
 
1.9.3  The legislation also requires local authorities to maintain a public register. 
 
1.9.4  The Authority will work with neighbouring authorities and report to 

them any relevant matters that relate to their licence holders. 
 
1.9.5  The Authority may utilise the Local Government Association (LGA) register of 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licence refusals and revocations called NR3, 
which has been introduced within the National Anti-Fraud Network. The register 
allows Authorities to record and share details of where a Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire drivers’ licence has been refused or revoked and allow Authorities to 
check new applicants against the register. 

 
1.9.6  The Authority complies fully with its obligations under the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR), Data Protection Act 2018 and other relevant legislation 
pertaining to the safe handling, use, storage, retention and disposal of information 
and has a written policy on these matters, which is available to those who wish to 
see it on request. 

 
1.9.7  The Authority complies in full with the Data Barring Service (DBS) Code of Practice 

for Disclosure and Barring Service Registered Persons.  See section 3.7 of this 
policy. 

 

Deleted: It has

Deleted: 287

Deleted: 19

Deleted: 73

Deleted: is

24



 

7 
 

PART 2 VEHICLES 
  
2.1  Limitation of Numbers  
 
2.1.1  No powers exist for licensing authorities to limit the number of private hire 

vehicles that they licence.  
 

2.1.2  The current legal provision on quantity restrictions for hackney carriages is set out 
in section 16 of the Transport Act 1985. This provides “that the grant of a 
(hackney carriage) licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the number 
of hackney carriages in respect of which licences are granted, if, but only if, the 
person authorised to grant licences is satisfied that there is no significant demand 
for the services of hackney carriages (within the area to which the licence would 
apply) which is unmet.”  

 
2.1.2  In line with the DfT Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice 

Guidance, and Competition and Markets Authority Guidance on the Regulation of 
Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles: understanding the impact on competition the 
Authority does not impose a quantity restriction on the licences that are issued in 
respect of hackney carriages. 

 
2.2  Specifications and Conditions  

 
2.2.1  Local Licensing Authorities have a wide range of discretion over the types of 

vehicle that they can licence as hackney carriage or private hire vehicles.  
 

2.2.2 Government guidance suggests that they should adopt the principle of specifying 
as many different types of vehicle as possible and are encouraged to make use of 
the “type approval” rules within any vehicle specifications they adopt.  

 
2.2.3 The Authority accepts that there are a wide range of vehicles available that are 

suitable for use as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicles.  In accordance with 
central Government’s guidance, all vehicles therefore shall have an appropriate 
‘type approval’ which is either a: 
 European Whole Vehicle Type approval; 
 British National Type approval; or 
 British Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) or subsequently an Individual Vehicle 

Approval (IVA).   
 
2.2.4 As a guide, most large volume production vehicles produced in the UK and EU 

States after 1987 will satisfy British and/or European Whole Type Approval.  
Specialist vehicles or any vehicle that has been structurally modified, converted or 
imported from a non-EU State since its original manufacture will require separate 
IVA (SVA) and/or Department for Transport approval and such documentation 
must be submitted with an application. 

 
2.2.5  The Authority shall impose such conditions as it considers reasonably necessary 

on hackney carriage and private hire vehicle licences. These vehicles provide a 
service to the public, so it is appropriate to set criteria for the standard of the 

25



 

8 
 

external and internal conditions of the vehicle, provided that these are not 
unreasonably onerous.  

 
2.2.6  Appendix A sets out the specification and minimum standards in respect of 

hackney carriages and for private hire vehicles.  
 

2.2.7 Vehicles shall be licensed for the carriage of not more than 8 passengers. All 
applications for a licence in relation to vehicles that have a maximum capacity of 3 
passengers shall be referred to the Licensing Committee.    

 
2.3  Accessibility  

 
2.3.1  Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles are an essential mode of transport for 

many disabled and older people. The combination of the personal service they 
offer, their wide availability and door to door operations enable them to respond 
particularly well to the travelling needs of people with disabilities.  

 
2.3.2  The Authority is committed to social inclusion and ensuring a wide variety of 

opportunities is available to those with mobility difficulties in order to enjoy a high 
quality of life.  

 
2.3.3  In addition to the general conditions, accessibility for people with disabilities 

(including, but not only people, who need to travel in a wheelchair) is, therefore, 
an important consideration in respect of vehicles licensed as hackney 
carriages/private hire vehicles. 

 
2.3.4  The Authority encourages the provision of wheelchair accessible vehicles.  There 

will be a 20% reduction from the application fee for such vehicles. Current fees 
are published in the Council’s Fees and Charges.  

 
2.3.5  The Equality Act 2010 brings together in one Act a number of different pieces of 

legislation about discrimination, - including disability discrimination.  The Authority 
considers it important that people with disabilities have access to all forms of 
public transportation. 

 
2.3.6 The Equality Act 2010 places certain duties on licensed drivers to provide 

assistance to people in wheelchairs and to carry them safely. There are similar 
requirements on drivers in relation to the treatment of passengers with an 
assistance dog. Neither drivers nor operators of licensed vehicles can make any 
extra charge or refuse to carry such passengers. It is a criminal offence to breach 
any of these requirements. 

 
2.3.7 Licensed drivers who are unable to carry out the duties imposed upon them under 

the Equality Act 2010 may apply to the Authority for an exemption certificate from 
those duties. This Authority must issue an exemption certificate to that licensed 
driver if they are satisfied that it is appropriate to do so on medical or physical 
grounds.  The application must be supported by a declaration from a medical 
practitioner who has full knowledge of the applicant’s medical history.  The cost of 
obtaining this declaration must be met the by applicant.  Even if a medical ground 
or other physical condition exists, a driver has no defence against the offence of 

26



 

9 
 

failing to provide assistance to people in wheelchairs contrary to s165 Equality 
Act, if he has not been issued an exemption certificate.  

  
2.3.8  The Authority has published a list of vehicles designated for the purposes of 

section 165 of the Equality Act 2010.   
 
2.4  Maximum Age of Vehicles  
 
2.4.1  The Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance asks Licensing 

Authorities to “support any local environmental policies that the local authority 
may have adopted”.  This would include any local vehicle emission standard.   

  
2.4.2  A further Government report suggests that, by adopting targeted air quality 

policies for road transport, significant reductions can be achieved for atmospheric 
pollutants.  It highlights the impact that European-wide emission limits are having 
on improving air quality.   

 
2.4.3  The Authority recognises the global climate emergency and  considers that efforts 

should be made to improve, as far as is reasonable, the efficiency of vehicles 
licensed by the Authority, particularly in the emission of pollutants.  

 
2.4.4  In order to minimize the emission of atmospheric pollutants and encourage the 

uptake of zero and ultra-low emission vehicles an application for a new hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle licence will not be accepted unless the vehicle is 
less than 5 years old. The vehicle licence can continue to be renewed until it 
reaches the age of 10 years  

 
2.4.5  To support the provision of disabled accessible vehicles (including purpose built 

vehicles) and encourage the uptake of hybrid, ultra-low and zero emission 
vehicles (including plug in hybrid, electric and Hydrogen fuel cell), the renewal age 
for these vehicles is extended to 12 years as long as vehicle continues to pass the 
necessary compliance test.  

2.5  Vehicle Testing  
 

2.5.1  The Authority needs to be satisfied that licensed vehicles operating within its area 
are safe to do so.  

 
2.5.2  Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles are granted licences for a maximum 

period of 12 months. Prior to being granted a licence each vehicle shall be 
examined and tested at a vehicle testing station approved by the Authority.  The 
compliance test comprises a mechanical examination to current MOT standard and 
an additional check of items not covered by the MOT test.  Once licensed, the 
vehicle must undergo a further full examination and test at a vehicle testing 
station approved by the Authority at 6 monthly intervals. 

 
2.5.3  In line with MOT changes from May 2018, where a licenced vehicle is presented 

for testing and fails an authorised examination and test, being considered 
“dangerous” in accordance with the MOT testing defect categories, it must not be 
driven from the date of that test regardless of whether or not the previous 
certificate has expired. A suspension notice will be issued and will not be lifted 

Deleted: ¶
2.3.5

Deleted: In addition to the general conditions, 
accessibility for people with disabilities (including, but 
not only people, who need to travel in a wheelchair) is, 
therefore, an important consideration in respect of 
vehicles licensed as hackney carriages/private hire 
vehicles. ¶

Deleted: 2.4.2 

Deleted: The Authority will support any local 
environmental initiatives such as setting vehicle 
emissions standards or promoting cleaner fuels. ¶

Deleted: It is therefore

Deleted: ed

Deleted:  Newer vehicles have improved fuel 
efficiency and will emit fewer pollutants, if they are 
properly maintained, than older vehicles.  Vehicles 
manufactured prior to 1994 did not have to meet 
emission limits (Euro1 Technology).

Deleted: , 

Deleted: if it is seven years or older.  

Deleted: will 

Deleted: licensed

Deleted: s

Deleted: (12 years for purpose built taxis & 
wheelchair accessible vehicles) as long as the vehicle 
pass the compliance tests at the required times.

Deleted: es

Deleted: Licensed vehicles that 

27



 

10 
 

until the vehicle has undergone a further test at the proprietors expense, and 
been passed fit for use by the Authority. If the Authorised Officer is not satisfied 
that the defect has been repaired within 2 months from the service of the 
suspension notice, by virtue of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976, the licence will be deemed to have been revoked.   

 
2.5.4. Where a licensed vehicle is presented for testing and fails an authorised 

examination test and the defect is  considered “major”  and it is deemed unsafe 
as a passenger vehicle by the vehicle examiner, regardless of whether or not the 
previous certificate has expired, this may result in the vehicle proprietor being 
issued with a suspension notice in order to prevent the vehicle being used to carry 
passengers until the defect(s) is/are remedied. The suspension will not be lifted 
until the vehicle has undergone a further test, at the proprietor’s expense, and 
been passed as fit for use by the Authority.   If the Authorised Officer is not 
satisfied that the defect has been repaired within 2 months from the service of the 
suspension notice, by virtue of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976, the licence will be deemed to have been revoked.   

 
2.5.5  A compliance test must be completed before the expiry date of the current test.  

The certificate must be received by the Licensing Team within 2 working days of 
the test taking place. Failure to produce the compliance certificate will result in the 
issuing of penalty points under the South Kesteven Scheme and may result in 
other actions, including suspending the licence. 

 
2.5.6  A proprietor/driver shall comply with any request by an Authorised Officer or 

Police Officer inspecting the vehicle who is not satisfied as to the fitness of the 
vehicle or the accuracy of any fitted meter.  Either Officer may give a written 
notice to the proprietor/driver of the vehicle to make the hackney carriage and/or 
taxi meter available for further inspection and testing at such reasonable time and 
place as may be specified, and the vehicle licence may be suspended until the 
Officer is satisfied as to the vehicle’s fitness or as to the accuracy of the meter. 

 
2.6  Accident Reporting and Insurance Write Offs 

 
2.6.1  Under Section 50(3) of the 1976 Act, Proprietors of licensed vehicles are required  

to inform the Authority’s Licensing Team “as soon as reasonably practicable, and 
in any case within 72 hours of the occurrence of “any accident to such hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle causing damage materially affecting the safety, 
performance or appearance of the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle or the 
comfort or convenience of persons carried therein”. Failure to inform the authority 
of an accident within 72 hours will result in penalty points been issued 

 
2.6.2  A driver involved in an accident must provide details of the accident to the 

Authority’s Licensing Team before further use as the damage to the vehicle may 
be required to be assessed by an officer or vehicle testing station approved by the 
Authority at the vehicle proprietors’ expense.  If necessary, the vehicle proprietor 
will be issued with a suspension notice in order to prevent the vehicle being used 
to carry passengers until the defect(s) is/are remedied. The suspension will not be 
lifted until the vehicle has been passed as fit for use by the Authority.       

 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: are 

Deleted: If the defect is not repaired within 2 months 
from the service of the suspension notice, the 
vehicle licence shall be revoked by the Licensing 
Officer.…

Deleted:  Licensing

28



 

11 
 

2.6.3  Drivers, proprietors and operators are advised that this Authority may 
be contacted by insurance companies to verify an accident damage report and 
details provided. 

 
2.6.4  Where a vehicle has been “written off” by an insurance company the Authority will 

deal with these vehicles as follows: 
 

Category (from October 2017) Action 
A (scrap only) Will not be licensed or re-licensed 
B (break for parts) Will not be licensed or re-licensed 
S (structurally damaged but repairable) the Authority will consider licensing, or re-

licensing only if it has passed an 
‘AutoLIGN’ inspection (at the cost of the 
proprietor), and a satisfactory report / 
certificate produced. 

N (not structurally damaged, repairable) the Authority will consider licensing, or re-
licensing. However, dependant on the 
information contained within the report by 
the insurance assessor, a vehicle may 
have to pass an ‘AutoLIGN’ inspection (at 
the cost of the proprietor), and a 
satisfactory report / certificate produced. 

 
2.7  Signage and Advertising  

 
2.7.1  It is important that the public should be able to identify and understand the 

difference between a hackney carriage and a private hire vehicle.  Appendix A 
details the requirements for vehicle identification plates and signage.  

 
2.7.2  Private hire vehicles shall not be permitted to display roof-mounted signs and any 

signs that include the words “Taxi” or “Cab” or “For Hire” anywhere on the vehicle.  
 

2.7.3  Roof signs fitted to hackney carriage vehicles shall be illuminated at all times 
when the vehicle is available for hire.  

 
2.7.4  Vehicle identification plates are a key feature in helping to identify vehicles that 

are properly licensed. 
 

2.7.5  All licensed vehicles, except those private hire vehicles deemed Prestige/Executive 
Vehicles by the Authority shall display plates externally on the rear of the vehicle. 
Appendix K. 

 
2.7.6  Vehicles shall not be allowed to display written or other material on any window 

with the exception of those permitted by the conditions of the licence and those 
required by law or manufacturer’s mark. 

 
2.7.7  Licensed vehicle proprietors will be permitted, subject to prior written approval of 

the Authority, to display signs, advertisements, notices or other markings on the 
outside of their vehicle.  However, they shall be subject to the following 
conditions: 

Deleted: , such as road fund licence,

29



 

12 
 

 All advertisements shall comply with the Committees of Advertising Practice 
Codes https://www.gov.uk/marketing-advertising-law/advertising-codes-of-
practice and shall be in a form acceptable to the Authority.  

 No advertisement shall relate to or advertise alcohol, smoking materials or 
be of a political or religious nature, organization or campaign;  

 Advertising will be 2 dimensional in design and limited to the front and rear 
door panels;  

 Any damaged or disfigured advertisement signs shall be immediately 
removed. 

 
2.8  Driver Safety and CCTV 
 
2.8.1  The hackney carriage and private hire trades provide a valuable service, 

particularly late at night when other forms of public transport are not available. 
Security for drivers and passengers is of paramount importance. Licensed drivers 
deal with strangers, often in isolated places and carry cash and may be at risk of 
violence and other offences such as non-payment of fares, verbal and racist 
abuse. 

 
2.8.2  There are a number of ways to reduce the risks such as pre-payment of fares, 

driver screens, CCTV surveillance systems and radio link schemes.  
 
2.8.3  Measures such as CCTV are not required as part of the licensing regime, as it is 

considered that they are best left to the judgment of the owners and drivers 
themselves. The hackney carriage and private hire trades are, however, 
encouraged to consider the installation of CCTV systems in their vehicles on a 
voluntary basis.  

 
2.8.4  CCTV security systems for the purpose of assisting driver safety are permitted in 

vehicles. If such devices are fitted, adequate signage shall be displayed in the 
passenger compartment advising passengers that they are being 
monitored/recorded. Any such equipment shall be fitted overtly and in such a way 
as not to present any danger or hazard to any passenger. It will be the 
driver/proprietor’s responsibility to comply with all aspects of the law regarding 
such surveillance equipment. A minimum of two warning signs should be 
displayed prominently inside vehicles so as to be easily seen by passengers. 
Further information can be found on the following link https://ico.org.uk/. 

 
2.8.5 Proprietors are required to notify the Authority’s Licensing Team if their vehicle is 

fitted with CCTV (or if it is subsequently removed) within 5 days of installation or 
removal.  Failure to do so will result in the issuing of penalty points by an 
Authorised Officer. 

 
2.8.6  In any licensed vehicle where a CCTV security system is fitted, the proprietor shall 

ensure that the system does not interfere with other equipment, is properly 
installed, maintained and serviced to ensure clear images are recorded. 
Equipment must be available to be inspected and images downloaded by an 
Authorised Officer or Constable on request. 

 
2.9  Application Procedures 

Deleted: http://www.cap.org.uk/The-Codes.aspx

Deleted: It is not proposed that m

Deleted: should 

Deleted: be 

30



 

13 
 

 
2.9.1  The application procedures for a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence 

are not prescribed in law, but shall be made on the specified application form 
produced by South Kesteven District Council http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk 
and be accompanied by the appropriate fee in accordance with the application 
procedure set out in Appendix C.  

 
2.10  Consideration of Applications  
 
2.10.1The Authority shall consider all applications on their own merits once it is satisfied 

that the appropriate criteria have been met and the application form and supporting 
documents are complete. 
 

2.10.2The Authority does not allow dual plating of vehicles due to the difficulty in enforcing 
such practice and the confusion it can cause customers. 
 

2.10.3Pursuant to section 57 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976, the Authority can ask applicants whether they intend to use the vehicle in 
the district of South Kesteven or outside of the district.  
 

2.10.4 Applicants will need to be able to show what proportion of their business they 
propose to carry out in South Kesteven and what business will be carried out 
elsewhere, including the geographical location. 

 
2.10.5 If there are concerns that the hackney carriage is being used primarily outside of 

this area then the decision on whether to grant or renew a licence will be made 
by the Licensing Committee.  

 
2.10.6 The above is in accordance with the decision in R (App Newcastle City Council) v 

Berwick-upon-Tweed Borough Council [2008] EWHC 2369 
 
2.11 Renewal of Licences  
 
2.11.1 Existing vehicle licence holders shall be reminded prior to their expiry date that 

their licences are due to be renewed. Notwithstanding this, it is the licence 
holder’s responsibility to ensure that licences are renewed prior to their expiry.  

 
2.11.2 It is recommended that vehicles should be examined and tested at one of the 

Authority’s approved testing stations at least 7 days prior to submitting the 
application. This is to allow time for a vehicle to be repaired and then re-tested, 
should the vehicle examination identify the need, prior to the expiry of the 
licence.   

 
2.12  Environmental Considerations  
 
2.12.1 Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles are an essential form of transport in 

the South Kesteven area. Many people depend on hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles for trips when other forms of transport are unsuitable. However, the 
Authority is committed to reducing the environmental impacts of vehicles licensed 
to operate in the district by reducing the emissions of pollutants such as Nitrous 

Deleted: as to 

Deleted: you

Deleted: You

Deleted: your

Deleted: you

Deleted: we have

Deleted: to be used

Deleted: you

Deleted: would 

Deleted: need to be made by our l

Deleted: c

Deleted: ¶
¶
Each case will be decided on its merits.¶

Deleted: Please be advised that 

Deleted: It is, 

Deleted: h

Deleted: clearly important that emissions from 
licensed vehicles are reduced as far as possible

31



 

14 
 

Oxides (NOx), Particulate Matter (PM), Carbon Dioxide (CO2) and Carbon 
Monoxide (CO). 

 
2.12.2 The Authority has declared an Air Quality Management Area (for Nitrogen 

Dioxide) in the centre of Grantham.  Improving the fuel types of vehicles that are 
used within the district can form a part of a wider strategy to assist with 
improving air quality for residents and visitors.   

 
2.12.3 To support this, an application for a new hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 

licence will not be accepted unless the vehicle is less than 5 years old. The vehicle 
licence can continue to be renewed until it reaches the age of 10 years (12 years 
in the case of disabled access, low and ultra-low vehicles) see section 2.4 

 
2.12.4 Liquid petroleum gas (LPG) conversions are acceptable. Any conversion to LPG 

must be undertaken by an approved converter and the conversion certificate 
produced to the Authority for inspection.  

 
2.12.5 To incentivise investment in zero emission, lower emission vehicles the Authority 

will discount the annual vehicle licence fees as follows: 
 Fully electric vehicles - 50% discount 
 Plug in hybrid, hydrogen fuel cell and LPG vehicles - 20% discount 

 
2.12.6 The Authority would support initiatives which would be beneficial to the 

environment such as taxi sharing schemes and taxi and private hire vehicle 
buses. 

 
2.13  Engine Idling 
 
2.13.1 Drivers are reminded that the highway code states that ‘you must not leave a 

parked vehicle unattended with the engine running or leave a vehicle engine 
running unnecessarily while the vehicle is stationary on a public road’.  

 
2.13.2 Drivers must not idle a vehicle’s engine unnecessarily when stationary on a 

Hackney Carriage Rank or Stand.  The following exemptions will apply; 
a) Where the driver cannot prevent a motor vehicle from idling because of a 

mechanical difficulty over which he/she has no control 
b) Where a passenger is in the act of boarding or alighting from the vehicle 
c) A driver of a vehicle clearing snow or ice from the windscreen of the vehicle 
d) A driver is in the vehicle and operating air conditioning or heating on 

exceptionally hot/cold days 
e) While there is a passenger on board 
f) Electric or plug-in hybrid vehicles 
g) Anything done with the permission or at the direction of a Police Officer 

 
2.13.3 The Authorised Officer may issue penalty points where a driver has previously 

been warned about engine idling on a rank and is found to be doing so on a 
subsequent occasion.  

 
2.14  Stretched Limousines  
 

Deleted: It is therefore important that efforts are 
made to improve, as far as possible, the efficiency of 
licensed vehicles by, in particular, reducing the 
levels of CO2 , Nitrogen Dioxide and particles 
emitted.…

Deleted: therefore 

Deleted: ¶
2.12.4 Emissions from licensed vehicles canould be 
reduced further by encouraging better maintenance of 
vehicles and by switching off engines when stationary 
or idling, particularly at ranks. It is, however, proposed 
that this aspect be tackled through education and 
promotion.  ¶
¶
2.12.5  A  20% reduction will be given for the 
licensing of LPG/Hybrid/electric vehicles. ¶

32



 

15 
 

2.14.1 Stretched limousines are elongated vehicles that have been increasingly used for 
mainstream private hire work. The number of stretched limousines being 
imported, particularly from the United States of America, has been increasing. 
Their use generally includes all private hire work plus special occasions such as 
days at the races, stag and hen parties and children’s birthday parties.  

 
2.14.2 Licensing authorities have, in the past, considered there to be some problems 

preventing stretched limousines from being licensed including:  
 some of the vehicles are capable of carrying more than eight passengers; 
 many of the vehicles are left hand drive; 
 many of the vehicles are fitted with all around darkened glass; 
 many of the vehicles have been converted or modified after manufacture; 
 seating space per passenger is 460mm and could give a greater capacity than 

eight persons;  
 due to their origin - many parts may not be available, making adequate 

maintenance difficult. 
 

2.14.3 Most limousines are imported for commercial purposes and were historically 
required to take a Single Vehicle Type Approval (SVA) test - this is now the 
Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) scheme.  The IVA Scheme is an inspection 
scheme for vehicles that are not approved to British and European Standards, 
and its purpose is to ensure that these vehicles meet modern safety standards 
and environmental standards before being used on public roads. When presented 
for IVA, the vehicle is produced with a declaration that it will never carry more 
than eight passengers. The importer must inform any person who may use it of 
this restriction. Any subsequent purchasers must also be informed of the 
restriction.  

 
2.14.4 Any stretched limousines, which are offered for private hire, require a licence. 

Before licensing for private hire a full insurance policy for private hire purposes 
will be required. 

 
2.14.5 Applications to licence stretched limousines as private hire vehicles will be treated 

on their merits. However, imported stretched limousine type vehicles will be:  
 authorised as prestige type private hire vehicles; and 
 approved for licensing as private hire vehicles, subject to the additional 

conditions detailed in Appendix B. 
 

2.15  Contract Vehicles  
 
2.15.1 The Road Safety Act 2006 requires vehicles used under a contract with an 

organisation or company, for carrying passengers for hire or reward be licensed 
as private hire vehicles. As a general guide this shall include executive hire, 
chauffeur services including recovery from hot air balloon rides, park and ride for 
private car parks, airport travel, stretch limousines and novelty vehicles.  

 
2.16  Prestige Type Vehicles - Exemption from displaying plate 
 
2.16.1 The 1976 Act gives a district council the discretion to grant a proprietor a 

dispensation from displaying the licence plate on their licensed private hire 

Deleted: do of course 

Deleted: It is, 

Deleted: h

Deleted: proposed that 

33



 

16 
 

vehicle.  Each application for a dispensation will be considered by the Authorised 
Officer on its own merits.  The overriding consideration will be public safety.  

 
2.16.2 The granting of any dispensation by the Authority will be confirmed in writing by 

the Authorised Officer and a copy of the dispensation shall be carried in the 
vehicle at all times and shall be produced to an Authorised Officer on request.  

 
2.16.3 Dispensation will not be granted as a matter of course.  The case for dispensation 

will have to be made by the proprietor.  In determining an application, it will 
normally be the status of the passenger and the executive nature of the work 
that will indicate whether or not the dispensation should be granted.  The high 
quality of the vehicle being used will be supportive of an application but will not 
be the sole determining factor.  Please see Appendix K for full details. 

 
2.17 Exempt Vehicles 
 
2.17.1 Vehicles that are used solely in connection with a funeral, or are being wholly or 

mainly used by a person carrying on the business of a Funeral Director for the 
purpose of funerals, do not need to be licensed. 

 
2.17.2 Vehicles that are used solely in connection with a wedding do not require a 

licence. 
 
2.18 Smoking and the Use of Vaping Devices etc.   
 
2.18.1 Drivers are reminded that it is an offence to smoke or allow someone to smoke in 

a licenced vehicle at any time, including when the vehicle is being used for social, 
domestic and pleasure purposes. For the avoidance of doubt, the Authority also 
forbids the use of electronic cigarettes, vaping devices or any other kind of 
smoking substitute in licensed vehicles at all times whether by drivers or 
passengers.  

 
2.9.2  All licensed vehicles must comply with the requirements for the Health Act 2006 

and display ‘No Smoking’ signs.  
 
2.9.3 Drivers and Proprietors may be issued with penalty points under the South 

Kesteven District Council penalty point scheme. See Appendix J. 
 
  

Deleted: Licensing 

Deleted:  Licensing Officer

34



 

17 
 

PART 3 DRIVERS  
 
3.1  General 
 
3.1.1  The statutory and practical criteria and qualifications for a private hire driver are 

similar to those for a hackney carriage driver. The sections below, therefore, 
apply equally to private hire and hackney carriage drivers unless indicated.  

 
3.1.2 The Authority will not licence anyone to drive a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 

Vehicle unless it is satisfied that they are a “fit and proper” person to hold that 
licence. 

 
3.1.3 The term “fit and proper” is not legally defined.  It is for the Authority to 

determine the information is necessary to enable it to determine whether a 
person is fit and proper.  This includes a range of documentary evidence, 
practical criteria and assessments as detailed in this policy. 

 
3.2  Licences  
 
3.2.1  Separate driver’s licences shall be held in respect of driving hackney carriage and 

private hire vehicles. Where a licensed private hire driver wishes to drive a 
hackney carriage he will be required to hold a dual licence.  Licences shall be 
issued for a maximum period of 3 years or for such a lesser period, as the 
Authority consider appropriate in the circumstances.   

 
3.2.2  Applicants shall be over 18 years of age and shall have held a full driving licence 

issued in the UK, the European Community (EC) or one of the other countries in 
the European Economic Area (EEA) for at least 12 months.  

 
3.2.3 Holders of EC or EEA driving licences must register their non GB driving licence 

with the DVLA.  Alternatively, the may elect to exchange the licence for a GB 
licence.  

 
3.2.4 All driving licences will be checked annually with the DVLA.  Failure to produce 

the necessary documents by each anniversary of the licence may result in 
penalty points under the South Kesteven Penalty Point Scheme, see Appendix J 
or may be referred to the Licensing Committee.  

 
3.3 Eligibility to Live and Work in the UK 
 
3.3.1  Licensing authorities are under a duty not to issue licences to people who are 

disqualified by their immigration status from holding them. In determining 
whether someone is disqualified, the Licensing authorities will have regard to the 
statutory guidance issued by the Home Office.  

 
3.3.2 Proof of the right to live and work in the UK must be provided by Driver and 

Operator applicants in accordance with the Immigration Act 2016. 
 
3.3.3 Where a person’s immigration permission to be in the UK is time-limited to less 

than the statutory length for a driver or operator licence, the licence will be 

Deleted: Parallel Procedures 

Deleted: council 

Deleted: Once the counterpart of driving licences 
has been abolished, all DVLA licenses will be 
checked annually either through DVLA or an 
independent body providing this service. The cost of 
this will be met by the applicant.  

Deleted: 3.2.3 Applicants shall make a declaration 
that they have a statutory right to work in the UK 
and any applicant that has a limited right to work shall 
not be issued a driver licence for a period longer than 
that limited period.¶

35



 

18 
 

issued for a duration which does not exceed the applicant’s period of permission 
to be in the UK and work. 

 
3.3.4 In the event that the Home Office cuts short or ends a person’s immigration 

permission (referred to as curtailment or revocation), any licence issued as a 
consequence of an application which was made on or after 1 December 2016, 
that the person holds will automatically lapse. 

 
3.4  Topographical Knowledge (Driver Knowledge Tests)  
 
3.4.1  Hackney carriage drivers need a good working knowledge of the area for which 

they are licensed, because vehicles can be hired directly at ranks or on the 
street. The Authority also considers it necessary for private hire drivers to know 
the area. In addition, it is expected that drivers should be able to communicate 
with their customers, convey important safety information and be able to carry 
out the basic arithmetic associated with the paying of fares.   

 
3.4.2  In order to assist the Authority in determining the fitness of an applicant to hold a 

hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence, applicants are required to 
demonstrate an understanding of this policy, pass an arithmetic test and a 
practical test (the practical test is applicable to hackney applicants only) aimed at 
challenging their knowledge of the district. Applicants who cannot demonstrate 
that they hold a qualification taught and examined in English (the subject of the 
qualification does not matter as long as it was taught in English) will also be 
required to undertake an English language skills test..  Additional fees are 
payable.   

 
3.4.3 The tests must be taken within one month of the Authority  receiving the DBS 

disclosure result.  If this test is not taken within one month, the applicant will be 
required to re-apply as a new applicant. 

 
3.4.4 There is no limit on the number of times the test can be taken, however, the 

applicant must pay the appropriate fee on each occasion so is advised to consider 
whether they require any form of training to improve their language skills before 
taking the test.  

 
3.4.5 The practical test will be undertaken in in the area of the district where the driver 

expects to primarily operate.  Should substantiated complaints relating to the 
driver’s knowledge of the area, they may be required to undertake a re-test. 

 
3.4.6 The English language skills test does not apply to existing drivers.  However, any 

current licensed driver may be required to undertake the assessment where the 
Authorised Officer believes there are reasonable grounds to require assessment. 
Reasonable grounds would include instances where Authorised Officers have 
identified through enforcement activity or substantiated complaint that a driver 
may have insufficient English language proficiency.  

 
3.5  Driving Proficiency 

 

Deleted: ¶
3.3.5 Where an applicant has resided in the UK for 
less than 5 years, or has spent a period of 3 months 
or more within the last 5 years as a non-resident, 
the Authority will require a certificate of good 
conduct, obtained at the applicant’s own expense, 
authenticated by the relevant Embassy of the 
country of residence.  The applicant will also arrange 
for the certificate to be translated into English.¶

Deleted: they 

Deleted: undertake a communications test to 
challenge their understanding of the English 
language, and numeracy 

Deleted: ¶
3.3.3 A driving test to challenge their knowledge of 
the area within the district of South Kesteven will also 
be carried out. ¶

Deleted: first knowledge 

Deleted: authority

36



 

19 
 

3.5.1 The Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership (LRSP) provides a driving assessment 
specifically designed for hackney carriage and private hire drivers. 

 
3.5.2 First time applicants having more than 6 points (both current and expired accrued 

within a 4 year period) on their DVLA Driving Licence are required to pass the 
LRSP assessment prior to the granting of the licence.   

 
3.5.3 Existing drivers with more than 8 points (both current and expired accrued within 

a 4 year period) on their DVLA Driving Licence are required to pass the LRSP test 
within 3 months from the time of accruing the points or their licence will be 
suspended until such time as the test has been passed. 

 
3.6 Driver Qualification  

 
3.6.1  The Authority encourages all passenger transport drivers, whose role demands 

high standards in driving and customer service, to obtain a nationally recognised 
qualification. These would cover customer care - including how best to meet the 
needs of people with disabilities and other sections of the community - and also 
topics such as the relevant legislation, road safety, the use of maps and GPS, the 
handling of emergencies, and how to defuse difficult situations and manage 
conflict.  

 
3.7  Medical Examination  
 
3.7.1 The DfT recognises that it is good practice for medical checks to be made on each  
 Driver before grant of a licence and thereafter at each renewal.  There is general 

recognition that it is appropriate for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle 
drivers to have more stringent medical standards than those applied to normal car 
drivers.   

 
3.7.2 The Authority requires Group 2 Standards of Medical Fitness, as applied by the 

DVLA to the licensing of lorry and bus drivers, as the appropriate standard for 
licensed hackney carriage and private hire drivers.  

 
3.7.3 Applicants shall provide the Authority with the prescribed medical examination 

form completed by their own General Practitioner (GP), or a Doctor who has 
access to the applicant’s medical history, on first application and every 3 years 
thereafter until aged 65 years. Once the driver has reached the age of 65 years 
or if they have a relevant medical condition, and annual medical will be required 
thereafter. The applicant will be responsible for paying the fee for the 
examination to the relevant surgery and for ensuring all sections are completed in 
full by their GP. The certification must be less than three months old. Application 
procedures are detailed in Appendix C. 

 
3.7.4 Holders of Public Service Vehicle (PSV) and/or Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) 

licences, where the holder is able to produce proof of current medical 
examination less than 3 months old, shall not be required to undergo a medical 
examination on first application. 

 

Deleted: Driving Standards Agency (DSA) 

Deleted: DSA 

Deleted: test 

Deleted: DSA 

Deleted: believes 

Deleted: would benefit from 

Deleted: This will be at the applicant’s own expense.  

37



 

20 
 

3.7.5  If, once licensed, the drivers medical circumstances change they must advise the 
Authority by the next working day. 

 
3.7.6  Where there is any doubt as to the medical fitness of an applicant or a licensed 

driver, the Authority may require them to undergo a further medical examination 
or assessment by their GP or an approved practitioner at their own expense.   

 
3.7.7  Where there remains any doubt about the fitness of any applicant, the Licensing 

Committee will review the medical and any other evidence and make any final 
decision in light of the evidence available.  

 
3.7.8  No licence shall be issued until medical fitness has been established. Where a 

medical is due for an existing driver they will be required to submit the medical 
certificate before their renewal licence can be granted. 

 
3.8  Safeguarding and Child Exploitation 
 
3.8.1 All new drivers must complete and pass a Child Sexual Exploitation and 

Safeguarding test prior to being issued with a Hackney Carriage or Private hire 
driver’s licence.     

 
3.8.2 Existing drivers will be required to complete and pass a refresher course every 

three years as part of the licence renewal process.  See Appendix C.  
 
3.8.3 All drivers must follow the Code of Good Conduct at Appendix G. 
 
3.9  Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS)  
 
3.9.1 As an organisation using the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checking 

service to help assess the suitability of applicants for positions of trust, the 
Authority complies fully with the code of practice regarding the correct handling, 
use, storage, retention and disposal of certificates and certificate information. 

 
3.9.2  The Authority also complies fully with its obligations under the General Data 

Protection Regulation (GDPR), Data Protection Act 2018 and other relevant 
legislation pertaining to the safe handling, use, storage, retention and disposal of 
certificate information and has a written policy on these matters, which is 
available to those who wish to see it on request. 

 
3.9.3 In accordance with section 124 of the Police Act 1997, certificate information is 

only passed to those who are authorised to receive it in the course of their duties. 
Certificate information is only used for the specific purposes for this it was 
requested and for which the applicant’s full consent has been given.  

 
3.9.4 A DBS Certificate is seen as an important safety measure by the Authority to 

ascertain whether or not an applicant is fit to hold a licence.  An Enhanced DBS 
Certificate is required.    

 

Deleted: Licence holders shall 

Deleted: of any deterioration in their health that 
may affect their driving capabilities 

Deleted: the 

Deleted:  applicant

Deleted: and pay for 

Deleted: by a Medical Doctor appointed by the 
Authority. …

Deleted: medical 

Deleted: clearance 

Deleted: (if required)

Deleted: Disclosures

Deleted: criminal record check on a driver 

Deleted: Disclosure through the DBS 

38



 

21 
 

3.9.5  The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 does not apply to applicants for both 
hackney and private hire drivers licences. They are required to disclose all 
convictions, including those that would normally be regarded as spent. 

 
3.9.6 South Kesteven District Council is an approved DBS Registered Body and new 

driver applicants must apply for a DBS certificate through the Authority’s 
Licensing Team and pay the appropriate fee.  The Authority will not accept 
portability of a DBS unless all relevant checks, including the Barred List checks 
have been obtained. In this case, Certificates must be less than 3 months old.  

 
3.9.7  An Enhanced DBS is required with all new applications and every 3 years for 

existing drivers.  At initial application and at renewal for existing licensees 
(following the implementation of this policy), the applicant will be required to 
subscribed to the DBS Update Service throughout the currency of their licence.  

 
3.9.8 Every 3 years, the Authorised officer, will undertake an online check of the DBS 

Update Service to check the driver’s current status. Depending on what is 
revealed in the check, the Authority may require an additional DBS check to be 
undertaken at the applicant’s expense.  

 
3.9.9 All licensed drivers will be required to renew their subscription to the DBS update 

service on an annual basis, before their current subscription ends. 
 
3.9.10 Where a driver fails to maintain and/or renew their subscription before it ends 

they will be required to apply for a new Enhanced DBS check and register for the 
update service again at their own expense.   

 
3.9.11 The Authority does not receive the DBS disclosure certificate directly from the 

DBS.  It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure the Licensing Team has 
sight of the disclosure before a decision can be made as to whether or not a 
licence can be renewed/issued.  Licences will not be issued without a valid DBS 
certificate. . 

 
3.10  Certificate of Good Conduct (residency outside the UK) 
 
3.10.1 Any applicant who has, from the age of 10 years, spent 6 continuous months or 

more living outside the United Kingdom will be required to provide a Certificate 
of Good Conduct from the Embassy of every country where they have lived other 
than the UK (after the age of 10 years old).  This must be no older than 3 
months at time of presentation. The Certificate of Good Conduct must be 
obtained and 

 
3.10.2  A licence will not be granted or renewed in the absence of a current Certificate 

of Good Conduct. 
 
3.11  Relevance of Convictions and Cautions 
 
3.11.1 In relation to the consideration of convictions and police cautions recorded 

against persons, the Authority has adopted the policy set out in Appendix D 
under Relevance of Convictions.  

Deleted: Before an application for a driver’s licence 
will be considered, the applicant must apply for a 
DBS check through the Licensing Section of South 
Kesteven District Council unless they are subscribed 
to the Update Service provided by the DBS and can 
produce their disclosure for checking.

Deleted: no longer receives 

Deleted:  copy of 

Deleted: and therefore i

Deleted: Section 

Deleted: until these have been received

Deleted: 3.2.5 A Disclosure and Barring Service 
application shall be applied for on application and 
every three years thereafter if subsequent renewal 
applications are made unless the applicant has 
subscribed to the Disclosure & Barring Update 
Service. ¶
¶
3.7.4 The Authority is a registered body with the 
DBS. Applicants who are not already prescribed to 
the Update Service must deal with the DBS through 
the Authority and will be charged an appropriate fee. 
 ¶
3.7.5 Applicants for renewal of a driver’s licence are 
required to have a criminal record check from the 
DBS every third year.¶
¶
3.7.6 The Authority is bound by rules of 
confidentiality, and will not divulge information 
obtained from the DBS report to any third parties. 
The applicant for a DBS disclosure will be sent a 
copy of the disclosure report to their home address¶

39



 

22 
 

 
3.11.2 In assessing whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence, 

the Authority shall consider each case on its merit. It will take account of cautions 
and convictions, whether spent or unspent, but only in so far as they are relevant 
to an application for a licence. Upon receipt of a disclosure from the DBS, an 
Authorised Officer will assess whether any or all of the convictions, and any 
additional information received, is capable of having real relevance to the issue of 
whether or not the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence in line 
with the policy at Appendix D. Where the Authorised Officer’s assessment 
results in any doubt, the application will be referred to the Licensing Committee.  

 
3.12  Application Procedure  
 
3.12.1 An application for a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence shall be made 

on the specified application form. The application procedure is set out in 
Appendix C.  

 
3.12.2 Any dishonesty by an applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf which is 

discovered to have occurred in any part of the application process e.g. failure to 
declare convictions, false names or addresses etc will result in the application 
being referred to the Licensing Committee. This could result in the licence being 
refused, or if already granted, revoked and may result in prosecution.  

 
3.13  Renewal of Licences  
 
3.13.1 The Authority aims to send a reminder to licence holders in the month preceding 

the expiry date of their licence. However, it remains the  responsibility of the 
driver to renew in good time. Completed application forms, appropriate fees, and 
supporting documentation, as set out in Appendix C, must be submitted at the 
time of application.  

 
3.14  Conditions of Licence  
 
3.14.1 The Authority is not permitted to attach conditions to a Hackney Carriage driver’s 

licence, however, they are subject to the Council’s Hackney Carriage Byelaws.  
See Appendix F  

 
3.14.2 The Authority considers that the conditions of licence as set out in Appendix E 

are reasonable, necessary and appropriate for all licensed private hire drivers.  
 
3.15  Convictions – Licence Holders 
 
3.15.1 Once a licence has been granted, there is a continuing requirement on the licence 

holder to maintain their safety and suitability.  Any conviction or other actions on 
the part of the licence holder which would have prevented them from being 
granted a licence on initial application will result in referral of the licensee to the 
Licensing Committee and may result in the licence being revoked.  

 
3.15.2 Where offences, leading to conviction or police caution, are committed by 

licensed drivers, it is important - in the interests of consistency and transparency 

Deleted: Licensing 

Deleted: will 

Deleted: by post 

Deleted: ir

Deleted: when their licences are due to be renewed 
but the …

Deleted: is on

Deleted: h

Deleted: c

Deleted: It is, however, empowered to attach such 
conditions to a private hire driver’s licence as are 
considered necessary. 

40



 

23 
 

- that a procedure is in place to consider what effect this should have on their 
licence.  

 
3.15.3 Drivers, who are convicted of any criminal or motoring offence or issued with a 

police caution during the currency of their licence, must disclose the conviction 
and the penalty imposed to the Authority, verbally by the end of the next working 
day followed up in writing within seven days of conviction.  

 
3.15.4 If a licensed driver ceases to have a valid DVLA driving licence then their Hackney 

Carriage or Private Hire driver’s licence issued by this Authority shall be deemed 
invalid.  

 
3.15.5 Convictions, police caution and breaches of legislation, licence conditions, 

byelaws and of this policy, by licence holders, shall be dealt with in accordance 
with this Authority’s enforcement policy as set out at Appendix I.  

 
3.16  Driver’s Conduct  
 
3.16.1 The standards expected of licensed hackney drivers are set out in sections 5 to 

13 of the byelaws made under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Public 
Health Act 1875, which should be read in conjunction with the other statutory and 
policy requirements set out in this document. The byelaws are attached as 
Appendix F.  Failure to comply with the requirements of the byelaws may result 
in action being taken which may affect the licence. 

 
3.17  Dress Code  
 
3.17.1 Drivers are a front line transport service for visitors and residents and as such,   

all drivers are required to be respectably dressed, clean and tidy in appearance. 
Drivers are expected to dress in smart/casual clothing.  “Unsatisfactory 
appearance” is part of the South Kesteven District Council Penalty Points Scheme.  
See Appendix J. 

 
PART 4 PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS 
 
4.1  Requirements and Obligations      
 
4.1.1  Any person who operates a private hire service (who is not also a hackney 

carriage proprietor who permits hackney carriages to be used for private hire) 
must apply to the Authority for a Private Hire Operator’s licence. The objective in 
licensing private hire operators is the safety of the public, who will be using 
operator’s premises, and vehicles and drivers, arranged through them. Best 
practice, in respect of the controls required over private hire operators, is to 
ensure that the costs of any licence requirements are commensurate with 
benefits that they seek to achieve.  

 
4.1.2 A private hire vehicle shall only be dispatched to a customer by a private hire 

operator who holds a Private Hire Operator’s licence. Such a licence permits the 
operator to make provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a 

Deleted: 3.15.1 Anything that serves to enhance the 
professional image of the hackney carriage and 
private hire trade, and promotes the concept that 
drivers of licensed vehicles are vocational drivers, is 
to be welcomed. This would include drivers dressing 
in smart casual clothes.¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶

41



 

24 
 

private hire vehicle. A private hire operator shall ensure that every private hire 
vehicle is driven by a person who holds a private hire driver’s licence.  

 
4.1.3 An application for a Private Hire Operator’s licence shall be made on the 

prescribed form, together with the appropriate fee. The Authority will then decide 
whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a Private Hire Operator’s 
licence.  

 
4.1.4 All three licences (Private Hire Operator’s Licence, Private Hire Driver’s Licence 

and Private Hire Vehicle Licence) must be granted by the same Authority.  
 
4.1.5 Proof of the right to live and work in the UK must be provided by the applicant in 

accordance with the Immigration Act 2016. 
 
4.2  Criminal Record Checks  
 
4.2.1 Spent convictions can be taken into account when determining the suitability for 

a licence and the applicant must produce a Basic Disclosure Certificate from the 
DBS  as part of the application (or if they have lived outside of the UK for a 
period of six months or more in the last 5 years a certificate of good conduct from 
the relevant embassy) 

 
4.2.2 Before an application for a Private Hire Operator’s licence will be considered, the 

applicant shall provide a current (less than 1 month old) Basic Disclosure 
Certificate. or police check.  

 
4.2.3 All renewal applications (for individuals who are not already licensed drivers with 

South Kesteven District Council) must be accompanied by a Basic Disclosure 
Certificate (dated within 1 month) every 5 years.   

 
4.3  Conditions  

 
4.3.1 The Authority has power to impose such conditions on a Private Hire Operator’s 

licence as it considers reasonably necessary and these are set out in Appendix 
H.  

 
4.4  Insurance  
 
4.4.1 Before an application for a Private Hire Operator’s licence is granted, the 

applicant shall produce evidence that they have taken out appropriate public 
liability insurance for the premises to be licensed. 

 
4.4.2 The Private Hire Operator Licence Conditions (Appendix H), requires the Operator 

to ensure that a certificate of motor insurance which covers every private hire 
vehicle operated by him/her under the licence is held.  This must be produced to 
the Authorised officer on request.     

 
4.5  Licence Duration  
 

Deleted: 4.2.1Private hire operators are not exceptions 
to the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, so 
Standard or Enhanced disclosures cannot be required 
as a condition of grant of an operator's licence, but a 
Basic Disclosure from the DBS nevertheless is seen as 
appropriate. Whilst at this time A Basic Disclosure is 
not available via the DBS in England and Wales.  , it 
can be obtained in Scotland for residents in England 
and Wales…

Deleted: DBS 

Deleted: The DBS disclosure shall be produced on 
application and every five years thereafter if 
subsequent renewal applications are made unless 
they are currently licensed as a South Kesteven 
Hackney Carriage or Private Hire driver.  

42



 

25 
 

4.5.1 Section 10 of the Deregulation Act 2015 amends the 1976 Act, such that the 
licence shall remain in force for 5 years or such lesser period as the Authority 
considers appropriate. In line with DfT Best Practice Guidance. This Authority 
shall grant Private Hire Operator licences for a period of 5 years from the date of 
grant, subject to the power to grant a licence for a shorter period should this be 
appropriate in the circumstances.  

 
4.5.2 Holders of existing Private Hire Operator licences shall be reminded, in the month 

preceding their expiry, when their licences are due to be renewed. 
Notwithstanding this, the responsibility to apply to renew a licence and produce 
the necessary documentation rests solely with the licence holder.  

 
4.6 Record Keeping 
 
4.6.1 The 1976 Act requires Operators to keep records of each booking.  Records must 

be kept in a suitable form that does not permit backdating. Records must be 
available for inspection by or be provided to the Authorised Officer or authorised 
officer in a suitable format, on request, at all reasonable times. See Appendix H.  

 
4.7 Sub-Contracting 
 
4.7.1 The Deregulation Act 2015 amended section 55 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to permit Private Hire Operators licensed by 
the Authority to sub-contract a private hire booking to another operator licenced 
by the Authority or any other local authority.   

 
4.7.2 Regardless of which operator fulfils the booking, the operator may only dispatch a 

vehicle licensed by the same Authority that licences the operator and driven by a 
driver licenced by that same Authority  

 
4.7.3 Operators that accept a booking remain legally responsible for that booking even 

if they subcontract that booking to another operator.  They should record that 
booking as usual, noting the fact that it was sub-contracted.   

 
PART 5 DISCIPLINARY AND ENFORCEMENT MEASURES  
 
5.1  Enforcement  
 
5.1.1 The Government believes that regulators should have access to effective 

sanctions that are flexible and proportionate and that ensure the protection of 
workers, consumers, and the environment when tackling non-compliance by 
businesses.   

 
5.1.2  It is recognised that a risk-based approach to enforcement by the Authority 

benefits not only the public, but also the responsible members of the hackney 
carriage and private hire trades.  

 
5.1.3  In pursuance of its objective to encourage responsible hackney carriage/private 

hire businesses, the Authority shall operate a firm but fair disciplinary and 
enforcement regime. With a view to balancing the promotion of public safety with 

Deleted: 4.5.1 The Department for Transport 
considers that annual licence renewal is not 
necessary or appropriate for private hire operators. 
They recommend, as good practice, that a licence 
period of five years would be reasonable. However, 
although the operator will not have as much direct 
contact with the public as a driver, an operator will 
be privy to confidential information on bookings, and 
this Authority considers a five year period to be too 
long. ¶
¶

Deleted: a

Deleted:  

Deleted: Licensing Officer

43



 

26 
 

the need to permit individuals to safeguard their livelihood without undue 
interference, the Authority will only intervene where it is necessary and 
proportionate to do so, having regard to the objectives outlined in section 1.2 of 
this document. Where defects are such that vehicles need to be immediately 
prohibited, livelihood interference is inevitable.  

 
5.1.4  The Enforcement Policy as set out at Appendix I will ensure that the Authority’s 

enforcement effort is reasonable, transparent and well directed. 
 
5.2  Disciplinary Hearings 
 
5.2.1  Disciplinary matters are considered by the Authority’s Licensing Committee.  
     
5.3  Penalty Points Scheme and Warnings  
 
5.3.1 In respect of minor breaches of licence conditions, Authorised Officers shall issue 

penalty points and warnings in accordance with the approved scheme. The 
Penalty points’ scheme is included at Appendix J. 

 
5.3.2 A licence holder issued with penalty points may appeal against such a decision to 

the Head of Service  in the first instance.  If a satisfactory resolution cannot be 
found then the appeal will be referred to a manager from an independent 
business area for review. If the recipient still does not agree the appeal will be 
heard by the Licensing Committee.  

 
5.4  Suspension of Vehicle Licences  
 
5.4.1  Licensed vehicles shall be kept at all times in a safe, tidy and clean condition. 

Compliance with the vehicle specifications and conditions of licence is essential 
and will be enforced by periodic, random vehicle inspections by the Authority. 
Where it is found that any vehicle is not being properly maintained a Vehicle 
Defect Notice will be served on the vehicle proprietor setting out the defect(s) 
that need to be rectified, and arrangements for the vehicle to be further 
inspected to check compliance. This notice will be used by Authorised Officers 
where the defects are not deemed serious. Failure to comply with the 
requirements of the notice may result in the vehicle licence being suspended 
automatically. 

  
5.4.2  Where public safety is likely to be put at risk by the defect(s) a Suspension Notice 

shall be served on the vehicle proprietor who must have the vehicle repaired. The 
suspension will not be lifted until the vehicle has undergone a further test, at the 
proprietor’s expense, and been passed as fit for use by the Authority.  If the 
defect is not repaired within 2 months from the service of the suspension notice, 
the vehicle licence shall be revoked by the Authorised Officer. 

 
5.5  Revocation and Suspension of Licences  
 
5.5.1 Where a licence holder has been referred to the Licensing Committee, the 

Committee may order the revocation or suspension of the licence.  
 

Deleted: .1 

Deleted: Licensing 

Deleted:  the Authority

Deleted: , warnings and cautions, as are appropriate 
to the circumstances. 

Deleted: a licensing officer

Deleted: a decision

Deleted: the allocated points total 9 or more and 

Deleted: with the licensing officer or the independent 
business manager, 

Deleted: Licensing 

44



 

27 
 

5.5.1 Where any licence is revoked or suspended it must be returned to the Licensing 
Team immediately, and in any case within no more than 48 hours of notification 
of the decision.  

 
5.6  Prosecution     
                                                                                                                                                        
5.6.1 The Authority shall prosecute licence holders for relevant offences in accordance 

with the statutory Regulator’s Code and the Authority’s Enforcement Policy.  
 
5.7  Complaints  
 
5.7.1  Complaints regarding licensed drivers, operators and vehicles can be reported to 

the Authority Licensing Team.All complaints will be investigated by an 
AuthorisedOfficer in accordance with our service standards and enforcement 
policy. 

 
PART 6 OFFENCES  
 
6.1.1 The Authority has had regard to the Institute of Licensing “Guidance on 

determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 
hire trades” in formulating its policy  The Authority’s Convictions Policy is detailed 
in Appendix D.  

 
6.1.2 The Convictions Policy will apply to new and renewal applications and where 

applicable; transfers for drivers and operators, when reviewing an existing licence 
and decisions to suspend or revoke a licence.  

 
PART 7 DELEGATED POWERS  
 
7.1  Licensing Committee  
 
7.1.1 The Licensing Committee of the Authority is responsible for the management of 

the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing regime in the district, along with 
the formulation and review of its policy in this regard.  

 
7.1.2 The Licensing Committee of the Authority has delegated its authority to act as 

authorised officer and authorise officers to act for the purposes of licensing 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles under the provisions of the 1976 Act 
and the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and exercise the powers of the Authority in 
respect of specific offences.  The full details of the delegated powers can be found 
in the Authority’s Constitution. 

 
PART 8 FARES  
 
8.1  General  
 
8.1.1 The Authority has partially deregulated fares, in that proprietors may set their 

own rates.  Prior to charging the deregulated fare, a copy is to be deposited with 
the Authority. 

Deleted: Compliance 

Deleted: its own enforcement policy. 

Deleted: ’s

Deleted:  Customer Service Centre.  

Deleted:  Licensing 

Deleted: .

Deleted:  relevance of offences and convictions

Deleted: for prospective applicants  is outlined in 
Appendix D and for existing licence holders in 
Appendix I. …

45



 

28 
 

 
8.1.2 A Hackney Carriage Default Table of Fares (“the tariff”) is set by the Authority for 

those proprietors that do not wish to set their own fees.  A copy of the default 
table of fares will be provided to each applicant. 

 
8.1.3 The Authority is able to review the Default Table of Fares annually.  Any changes 

shall be advertised by the Authority in a paper circulating in the district in 
accordance with legislation.  

 
8.1.4  The Authority is not able to set fares for private hire vehicles.  
 
8.1.5 When a journey ends outside the district boundaries of the Authority a fare 

greater than that that would have been shown on the meter may be charged but 
only if an agreement has been made with the hirer in advance.  

 
8.2  Table of Fares  

 
8.2.1 A table of fares that has been registered with the Authority, or the Authority’s 

Default Table of Fares, must be displayed in each vehicle so that it is easily visible 
to all hirers.  

 
8.2.3 Private Hire Operators that use licensed vehicles fitted with a fare meter shall 

provide the Authority with a current table of fares. This table must also be 
displayed in each private hire vehicle so that it is easily visible to all hirers.  

 
8.3  Receipts  
 
8.3.1 Drivers shall, if requested by the passenger, provide written receipts for fares 

paid. 
 
PART 9 FEES  
 
9.1  Fee Structure  
 
9.1.1 The legislation provides that fees charged to applicants should be sufficient to 

cover the costs of inspecting the vehicles, providing hackney carriage stands (taxi 
ranks) and administering the regulation of the hackney carriages and private hire 
trades.  

 
9.1.2 The Authority shall review the fee structure annually.  Any changes shall be 

advertised by the Authority in a paper circulating in the district in accordance with 
legislation.  

 
9.1.3 All applications must be accompanied by the appropriate fee. 
 
9.2  Payment Refunds and Transfers 
 
9.2.1 Proprietors who change their vehicle part way through the licensing period will be 

eligible for a credit towards their new vehicle’s licence.  This will be at a 
proportion of the annual fee, based on each full day remaining on the licence. 

Deleted:  shall 

Deleted: 9.2.1 The appropriate fee must be paid when 
the application is submitted. ¶
¶
9.2.2 A charge will be levied to cover the 
administrative costs associated with the transfer of 
ownership of a vehicle or refusal of any application.¶
¶

46



 

29 
 

 
9.2.2 Except under exceptional circumstances, drivers or vehicle licences surrendered 

prior to their expiry shall not be eligible for a refund of the unexpired portion of 
the licence.  

 
PART 10 HACKNEY CARRIAGE STANDS  
 
10.1.1 The purpose of hackney carriage stands is to provide the public with a set 

location where they can hire a licensed hackney carriage. The stand is the only 
situation where a hackney carriage may ply for hire in a stationary position and 
shall be situated in locations where the public most need hackney carriages, for 
example - adjacent to transport facilities, retail areas and places of employment, 
entertainment and leisure facilities. Stands are sited so that passengers can 
board or alight from the vehicle safely. Stands can be for continual or part time 
use.  

 
10.1.2 The provision of hackney carriage stands is not a legal requirement and may be 

removed or relocated at the discretion of the Authority. 
 
10.1.3 Please see the council’s website for the current location of the taxi ranks in the 

South Kesteven area.   
 

47



 

30 
 

APPENDIX A 

VEHICLE SPECIFICATION AND CONDITIONS OF LICENCE FOR HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
 
Only those vehicles which comply with the specification detailed below can be granted a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence by South Kesteven District Council. 
 
Vehicle Age 
 
An application for a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence (other than a 
limousine or a prestige vehicle) will not be accepted if the vehicle is five years or older.  
The age of the vehicle will be taken from the date of first registration on the log book 
and therefore this must be submitted with all applications. 
 
The vehicle will continue to be licensed until it reaches 10 years of age or 12 years of 
age for a purpose built taxis, wheelchair accessible vehicles, zero and ultra-low emission 
vehicles (ULEV)  
 
An ULEV is currently defined as any car or van that emits 75g/km CO2 or less. It is 
expected that this definition will change over time, with vehicles requiring lower tail pipe 
emissions.   For the purposes of this policy, the standard that was relevant at the date of 
first registration of vehicle will be used.   
 
THE SPECIFICATION  
 
1  General  
 
1.1 Where vehicles have not been manufactured in the UK or imported by the 

manufacturer, they shall have an appropriate “Type Approval” which is either an 
EC Whole Vehicle Type Approval (ECWVTA) or British National Type approval. 
Vehicles shall not have been altered since that approval was granted. An 
Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) may be accepted for wheelchair accessible 
vehicles. Vehicles presented for approval, and while in use, shall comply with the 
Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 and any subsequent 
amendment or re-enactment thereof.  

 
1.2 No fittings, other than those approved in this policy or required in the twice 

yearly examination and test by the authorised testing station, may be attached to 
or carried on the inside or outside of the vehicle. 

 
 2  Dimensions 
 
2.1 The vehicle shall be of such a size as to enable easy access to the interior of the 

vehicle by an adult. 
 

 3   Body  
 
3.1 The vehicle shall have no signs of previous significant accident damage.  
 

Deleted: seven

48



 

31 
 

3.2 The paintwork shall be of a professional finish and be one consistent colour over 
the whole of the vehicle’s bodywork.  

 
3.3 The bodywork shall have no untreated or unrepaired body defect or significant 

signs of corrosion. Corrosion includes visible rust and signs of rust by virtue of 
the paintwork being blistered. All rust spots and repairs in excess of 100 
millimetres diameter are to have been prepared and repainted with matching 
colour up to insurance finishing standard. 

 
4  Wheels 
 
4.1 The vehicle shall have four road wheels unless agreed by the Licensing 

Committee.  
 
4.2 Space-saver spare tyres, where supplied as standard equipment to the vehicle, 

will be accepted. Provision shall be made for a standard road wheel to be secured 
in the vehicle should a space saver tyre be used in an emergency. A vehicle 
presented for examination and test with a space saver spare tyre in use as a road 
wheel will fail the test. 

 
4.3 Any spare wheel shall conform to construction and use regulations.  
 
4.4 A wheel brace and jack to enable the effective change of a tyre and wheel shall 

be carried, except where Paragraph 4.5 applies.  
 
4.5 Where an aerosol inflation and sealant device is supplied with the vehicle as 

standard by the manufacturer, a spare tyre need not be carried.  
 
4.6 If a vehicle is fitted with ‘run flat’ tyres, the vehicle shall be fitted with a tyre 

pressure sensor / warning device.  
 
5  Steering  
 
5.1 It is recommended that all vehicles should be right hand drive but left hand drive 

vehicles will be considered.  
 
6  Interior  
 
6.1 The interior of the vehicle is to be kept in a clean and tidy condition at all times. 
 
7  Doors  
 
7.1 The vehicle shall have a minimum of 4 opening doors that are easily accessible to 

passengers unless agreed by the Licensing Committee.  
 
7.2 All vehicles shall have doors that open sufficiently wide to allow easy access and 

egress from the vehicle.  
 
7.3 All doors shall be capable of being readily opened from the inside and outside of 

the vehicle by one operation of the latch mechanism. 

49



 

32 
 

 
7.4 The interior door handle shall be clearly visible and easily accessible to 

passengers.  
 
8  Seats  
 
8.1 Vehicles shall have a passenger seating capacity of not less than 3 persons unless 

agreed by the Licensing Committee. 
 
8.2 Each seat shall be fitted with fully operational seat belts, compliant with British 

Standards, except where the law specifically provides an exemption.  
 
8.3 Where seat covers are used they shall be properly affixed to the seat so as not to 

become loose during use. They shall be clean and devoid of damage of any kind.  
 
9  Windows  
 
9.1 Opening windows shall be provided in the rear of the vehicle capable of being 

opened by the rear seat passengers.   
 
9.2 Vehicle windows shall have visual transmission of light of not less than 70% in 

respect of windscreens and windows to either side of the driver. 
  
9.3 No vehicle shall be fitted with any form of additional film to darken or tint the 

glass on any part of the vehicle.  
 
10  Heating and ventilation 
 
10.1 Vehicles shall have an efficient heating and ventilation system. 
 
11  Wheelchair carrying facilities 
 
11.1 Any vehicle that has the facility for the carriage of wheelchair(s) and wheelchair 

passengers shall be fitted with:-  
 

 Approved anchorages that shall be either chassis or floor linked and 
capable of withstanding approved dynamic or static tests. Restraints for 
wheelchair and passengers shall be independent of each other. Anchorages 
shall also be provided for the safe storage of a wheelchair, whether folded 
or otherwise, if carried within the passenger compartment. All anchorages 
and restraints shall be so designed that they do not cause any danger to 
other passengers.  

 
 A ramp or ramps for the loading of a wheelchair and passenger shall be 

available at all times. An adequate locking device shall be fitted to ensure 
that the ramp(s) do not slip or tilt when in use. Provision shall be made for 
the ramps to be stored safely in the vehicle when not in use.  

 
11.2 The vehicle shall be equipped with a manufacturer’s user manual/guide on the 

safe loading and unloading and security of wheelchair passengers.  

50



 

33 
 

 
11.3 Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into the 

vehicle shall have been tested in accordance with the requirements of the Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER) immediately prior to 
being first licensed and at each subsequent twice yearly test and be so certified 
and submitted at the time of renewal.  

 
11.4 The Authority has published a list of vehicles designated for the purposes of 

section 165 of the Equality Act 2010.   
 
12  CCTV Systems  
 
12.1 CCTV surveillance systems to assist driver safety are permitted in vehicles. If 

such devices are fitted, adequate signage shall be displayed in the passenger 
compartment advising passengers that they are being monitored / recorded. Any 
such equipment shall be fitted overtly and in such a way as not to present any 
danger or hazard to any passenger. It will be the driver / proprietor’s 
responsibility to comply with all aspects of the law regarding such surveillance 
equipment.  

 
13  Tyres  
 
13.1 All tyres, including the spare tyre, shall comply with the vehicle manufacturer’s 

specification.  
 
13.2 Re-cut tyres are not acceptable for vehicles that are internationally classified as 

M1 passenger vehicles and remould tyres shall only be acceptable if they carry a 
recognised approval marking (BSAU144e) and display:-  

 
 Nominal size;  
 Construction type (e.g. radial ply);  
 Load capacity; and  
 Speed capability.  

 
14  Electrical Equipment  
 
14.1 Any additional electrical installation to the original equipment shall be adequately 

insulated and be protected by suitable fuses.  
 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE CONDITIONS OF LICENCE  
 
15  Examination and test  
 
15.1 Before a licence is granted for the use of a vehicle as a hackney carriage or 

private hire vehicle, the vehicle shall be examined and tested by an Authority 
approved testing station. Once licensed, the vehicle undergoes a further full 
examination and test at a vehicle testing station approved by the Authority at 6 
monthly intervals. 

 

51



 

34 
 

15.2 All vehicles should be routinely serviced to ensure safety. The Authority expects 
all vehicle proprietors and drivers to undertake planned, preventative 
maintenance. The purpose of the 6 monthly compliance test carried out by an 
Authorised garage is to confirm the safety and quality of the vehicle rather then 
highlight what maintenance needs to be undertaken. The Authorised Officer may 
issue penalty points under the South Kesteven District Council Scheme for failure 
to maintain a vehicle in a satisfactory condition. See Appendix J.  

 
15.3 Where a licenced vehicle is presented for testing and fails an authorised 

examination and test, being considered “dangerous” in accordance with the MOT 
testing defect categories, it must not be driven from the date of that test 
regardless of whether or not the previous certificate has expired. A suspension 
notice will be issued and will not be lifted until the vehicle has undergone a 
further test at the proprietors expense and been passed fit for use by the 
Authority. If the defect is not repaired within 2 months from the service of the 
suspension notice, the vehicle licence maybe revoked by the Licensing 
Committee. 

 
15.4. Where a licensed vehicle is presented for testing and fails an authorised 

examination test and the defect is  considered “major”  and it is deemed unsafe 
as a passenger vehicle by the vehicle examiner, regardless of whether or not the 
previous certificate has expired, this may result in the vehicle proprietor being 
issued with a suspension notice in order to prevent the vehicle being used to 
carry passengers until the defect(s) is/are remedied. The suspension will not be 
lifted until the vehicle has undergone a further test, at the proprietor’s expense, 
and been passed as fit for use by the Authority.  If the defect is not repaired 
within 2 months from the service of the suspension notice, the vehicle licence 
maybe revoked by the Licensing Committee.  
 

16  Licence Identification Plates  
 

16.1 The proprietor of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle shall fix, to the 
vehicle, licence identification plates of the size, colour, design and type supplied 
by the Authority.   

 
16.2 The proprietor shall ensure that the licence identification plate is securely fixed to 

the rear exterior of the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle in such a position 
as the vehicle registration plate is not obscured, with the particulars thereon 
facing outwards and in such a manner and place that the licence is clearly visible 
from the highway and by other road users.  The plate must not be placed on or in 
the rear window of the vehicle.   

 
16.3 Prestige/Executive vehicle operators who have applied for and been granted a 

dispensation by the Authority to display a licence identification plate on the rear 
of the vehicle, shall carry a copy of the dispensation in the vehicle at all times 
and this shall be produced to an AuthorisedOfficer/Police Officer on request. 

 
16.4  The proprietor shall ensure that an approved holder displaying a hackney carriage 

or private hire driver badge and a vehicle licence identification card, as supplied 
by the Authority, is displayed in a position for all passengers to clearly see.  

Deleted: ¶
15.2 Licensed vehicles that fail an authorised 
examination and test, and, are deemed unsafe as a 
passenger vehicle by the vehicle examiner, will result 
in the vehicle proprietor being issued with a 
suspension notice in order to prevent the vehicle 

being used to carry passengers until the defect(s) 
is/are remedied.   The suspension notice will be 
served on the vehicle proprietor who must have the 

vehicle repaired. The suspension will not be lifted 
until the vehicle has undergone a further test, at the 
proprietor’s expense, and been passed as fit for use by 
the Authority.  If the defect is not repaired within 2 
months from the service of the suspension notice, the 
vehicle licence shall be revoked by the Licensing 
Officer. Consider applying mot standards to taxis ie if 
it fails the test even if before due, then cannot be 
driven until the fault has been rectified.¶
¶

Deleted:  Licensing 

52



 

35 
 

 
16.5 The proprietor shall ensure that no licence identification plate be displayed other 

than the plates issued by the Authority, and the said plate shall be displayed only 
on the vehicle to which it relates.  

 
16.6 The licence plate(s) shall remain the property of the Authority and shall be 

returned to them within seven days, following the service on the proprietor of an 
appropriate notice by the Authority and in the event of the hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle licence ceasing to be in force in respect of the vehicle.  

 
17  Signs and Notices  
 
17.1 Vehicles shall not display roof signs or allow any other signs or advertising below 

roof height without the prior approval of the Authority.  
 
17.2 On the dashboard of the vehicle or on the windscreen, in a position for 

passengers to clearly see, there shall be displayed an internal licence identifying 
the vehicle licence details as provided by the Authority.  

 
17.3 The vehicle shall display “no smoking” signage which complies with the 

requirements of the Health Act 2006.   
 

18.  Receipts  
 

18.1 The proprietor of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle shall ensure that a 
receipt is given if requested and each receipt shall show as a minimum the 
following particulars:- 

 
 Date of journey; 
 Details of journey (i.e. where from/to); 
 Badge number of driver; and 
 Amount paid. 

 
19  Luggage 
 
19.1 The proprietor shall at all times provide facilities for the conveyance of luggage 

safely and protected from inclement weather.  
 
19.2 Where luggage is stored other than in a boot (e.g. in an MPV), it shall be properly 

secured.  
 
20  Property  
 
20.1 Any property left accidentally in the vehicle by passengers, if not claimed by or 

on behalf of its owner, shall be taken to a local Police station within 48 hours and 
reported as ‘found property’.  

 
21  Furnishing and maintenance of vehicle  
 

Deleted: book 

53



 

36 
 

21.1 The proprietor shall ensure that the vehicle, all its fittings and equipment at all 
times when the vehicle is in use or available for hire as a hackney carriage or 
private hire, is kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all relevant 
statutory requirements (including in particular those contained in the Road 
Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986) shall be fully complied with. It 
is not sufficient to wait until a compliance test to find out if the vehicle is still 
roadworthy. 

 
21.2 Where a separate compartment is provided for passengers, the proprietor shall 

provide sufficient means by which any person in the compartment may 
communicate with the driver.  

 
21.3 The proprietor shall at all times provide adequate lighting and heating for the 

interior of the vehicle.  
 
22  Advertisements  
 
22.1 Licensed vehicle proprietors will be permitted, subject to prior approval of the 
 Authority, to display signs, advertisements, notices or other markings on the 
 outside of their vehicle.  However they shall be subject to the following conditions: 
 

 All advertisements shall comply with the Committee of Advertising 
Practice Codes or successor body; 

 No advertisement shall relate to or advertise alcohol, smoking materials 
or be of a political or religious nature, organization or campaign; 

 Advertising will be 2 dimensional in design and limited to the front and 
rear door panels; 

 Any damaged or disfigured advertisement signs shall be immediately 
removed. 

 
23  Communication Devices  
 
23.1 Where apparatus for the operation of a two-way radio system is fitted to a 

vehicle, no part of the apparatus shall be fixed in the passenger compartment or 
in the rear boot compartment if LPG or CNG tanks or equipment are in use.  

 
23.2 Any radio apparatus shall be so positioned and properly secured so as not to 

interfere with the safe operation of the vehicle.  
 
23.3 No other radio equipment, either in the driver or the passenger compartment, is 

permitted without the prior approval of the Authority.  
 
24  Auxiliary equipment  
 
24.1 Any auxiliary equipment that is fitted to a vehicle shall not impede the driver in 

any way or hinder his/her view, impede or cause hazard to passengers or other 
road users.  

 
25  Convictions including cautions and fixed penalties 
 

54



 

37 
 

25.1 Proprietors shall within seven days of conviction, disclose to the Authority, in 
writing, details of any convictions including formal cautions and fixed penalty 
notices received during the period of the licence.  

 
26 Change of Address  
 
26.1 The proprietor and drivers of vehicles shall notify the Authority, in writing, of any 

change in name and address within seven days of such a change taking place.  
 
Additional requirements for Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
 
27  Taxi Signs 
 
27.1 Licensed hackney carriages must carry a roof sign capable of internal illumination 

with lettering not exceeding 76mm in height on the forward and/or rear faces 
only.  The sign may bear the name of the proprietor and/or the word ‘TAXI’ 
and/or the telephone number of the firm and shall be illuminated at all times that 
the vehicle is available for hire. 

 
28  Taximeters 
 
28.1 A licensed hackney carriage vehicle shall be fitted with a taximeter. 
 
28.2 The taximeter shall be positioned so that all letters and figures on its face shall 

be at all times illuminated and plainly visible to any passenger.  
 
28.3 The taximeter when standing at a rank or plying for hire shall be kept locked in a 

position in which no fare is recorded on its face.  
 
28.4 When the taximeter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of the meter 

in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that shall be 
charged for a journey.  

 
28.5 If the taximeter has been altered for whatever reason, the proprietor of the 

vehicle shall forthwith make arrangements for resetting with the approved meter 
agent.  

 
28.6 The vehicle taximeter shall be brought into operation at the commencement of 

all hires and the fare demanded by the driver shall not be greater than that 
shown on  the meter and agreed by this Authority. In the event of a hire ending 
outside the Authority’s boundary, the fare that may be charged for the journey is 
such fare or rate of fare, if any, as was agreed before the hiring was effected. If 
no such agreement was made at the start of the journey then the fare to be 
charged should be no greater than that that would have been shown on the 
taximeter. 

  
28.7 Other than a taximeter, there shall be no other device which displays the fare.  

This is to avoid confusion with customers.  Only the meter is to be used to 
calculate the fare.  

 

55



 

38 
 

29.  Table of fares 
 
29.1 The proprietor shall ensure that the current table of fares for that vehicle is on 

display inside the vehicle at all times and is not concealed from view or rendered 
illegible.  

 
Additional requirements for Private Hire Vehicles 
 
30.  Meters  
 
30.1 If the vehicle is fitted with a meter for recording the fare it shall display and 

maintain the statement of fares inside the vehicle in such a position as to be 
clearly visible at all times to the hirer. The statement of fares shall include the 
following information:  

 
 The minimum hire charge;  
 The rate charged per mile;  
 Any additional charges.  

 
30.2 The meter shall:-  
 

 be fitted in a position where it is not easily visible from outside the vehicle;  
 be checked by an authorized meter agent before it is used;  
 not display a “For Hire” sign at any time;  
 be fitted in such a position that its figures are clearly visible to passengers and 

that it is sufficiently illuminated; and  
 be fitted to the vehicle so as not to be practicable for any person to tamper 

with them. 
 
30.3  If a meter is fitted, the fare charged shall not exceed that stated in the statement 

of fares as displayed in the vehicle unless a rate has been separately agreed 
between the hirer and the licensed Private Hire Operator at the time of booking 
and prior to the journey commencing. 

 
30.4 If a meter is installed, there shall be no other device which displays the fare.  

This is to avoid confusion with customers.  Only the meter is to be used to 
calculate the fare. 

 
31  Trailers and Roof Carriers  
 
31.1 The vehicle may tow a trailer but shall: 
 

 comply with the towing weights specified by the vehicle’s manufacturer; 
 provide secure and weatherproof storage for luggage;     
 display the licence plate on a platform kit at the rear. 

 
31.2 If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods, in addition to normal luggage, 

it shall be of a type fitted to the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the 
vehicle’s manufacturer.  

 

56



 

39 
 

32  Taxi Signs 
 
32.1 The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall not display, or suffer or permit to be 

displayed on a private hire vehicle, any sign or notice which consists of or 
includes the word TAXI or CAB whether in the singular or plural or FOR HIRE or 
any word or words of similar meaning or appearances to any one of those words, 
whether alone or as part of another word.  

57



 

40 
 

APPENDIX B 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS FOR PRIVATE HIRE LIMOUSINES 
 
1.  DEFINITION OF A LIMOUSINE 
 
1.1  For the purposes of this policy and licence conditions, a stretched limousine is 

defined as follows: -  
 
1.2  A stretched limousine is a motor vehicle that has undertaken a Ford Motor 

Company Qualified Vehicle Modifier (QVM) or Cadillac Master Coachbuilder (CMC) 
or an equivalent conversion programme resulting in its lengthening by an 
additional body section that is:-  

 
 Capable of carrying up to but not exceeding 8 passengers.  

                                                                                                                                                                                      
 2.  PRE-LICENSING REQUIREMENTS AND LICENSING CONDITIONS 
 
 Issue Licence Condition Justification 
1. Left hand drive  

vehicles  
 

Permit left hand 
drive limousines to 
be licensed.  
 

The majority of stretched limousines 
are imported from the United States of 
America and are left hand drive. The 
Department for Transport has 
recommended that Authorities should 
not refuse to licence limousines simply 
because they have characteristics 
which contravene their existing policy, 
i.e. left hand drive. 

2. Sideways 
Seating  
 

Permit limousines 
with sideways facing 
seating to be 
considered for 
private hire vehicle 
licensing, but no 
seat must be 
positioned so that it 
permanently 
obstructs any door. 

A main characteristic of stretched 
limousines is their sideways facing 
bench seats. In line with the 
Department for Transport guidance 
the Authority will consider the 
suitability of limousines with sideways 
seating for licensing. 

3. Signage  
 

Provided that they 
have received 
written consent from 
the Authority - 
limousines may, in 
certain 
circumstances, not 
be required to 
display identification 
signs required by 
other private hire 
vehicles. 

Signage serves to distinguish private 
hire vehicles from ordinary saloon cars 
and to make them clearly identifiable 
to the public. However, the naturally 
distinctive appearance of stretched 
limousines means that they are very 
unlikely to be confused with a private 
road user’s vehicle or a hackney 
carriage vehicle. 

58



 

41 
 

4. Tinted Glass  
 

Be no restriction to 
the level of tint for 
the glass windows in 
the passenger 
compartment. 
However, 
tinted glass in the 
windscreen and front 
doors shall be 
restricted to the 
requirements of the 
SVA Standards. 

It is recognised that the privacy 
provided by tinted glass in the 
passenger compartment is a central 
characteristic of a limousine. 
 

5. Fare 
Table/Taximeter 

Limousines are not 
required to display a 
fare table or contain 
a taximeter. Any 
taximeter fitted must 
be in accordance 
with the Authority’s 
private hire 
requirements 
detailed at item 31 
of the policy. 

Stretched limousines often do not 
operate under a fare system as 
journeys are generally pre-paid in 
advance based on the length of time 
they are hired for. 
 

6. Roadworthiness Shall hold a valid 
Single Vehicle 
Approval  
(SVA) Certificate or 
equivalent.  

SVA test comprises of a visual 
examination of a vehicle and certifies 
its safety and roadworthiness. 

7. Insurance  
 

An appropriate 
insurance policy 
must be in place, 
which covers use of 
the vehicle for hire 
and reward. 

Some limousines may be operating 
under insurance policies which do not 
cover use for hire and reward and take 
into account that the vehicle has been 
stretched. 

8. Tyres The limousine must 
be fitted with tyres 
that meet the size, 
rating and weight 
specification. 

Given the increased weight of the 
vehicle - tyres of the correct weight 
and size rating must be used at 
all times. 

9. Vehicle Testing  
 

The limousine shall 
be examined twice a 
year to the 
appropriate Class 
MOT standard. 

To ensure that limousines licensed by 
the Authority are maintained to high 
standards and remain safe. 
 

  

59



 

42 
 

10. Maximum 
Passengers  
 

The limousine’s 
seating capacity 
must be reduced 
where necessary to 
a maximum of 8 
passengers. 

Authorities can only licence vehicles 
with a maximum seating capacity of 
up to 8 passengers. 
 

  Any seats in the 
driver’s 
compartment, other 
than the driver’s 
seat, shall not be 
used to carry 
passengers.  

This is to ensure that passengers are 
not carried in the front of the vehicle 
to improve driver and passenger 
safety. 
 

  The vehicle must not 
carry more than 8 
passengers at any 
time.  

This condition shall be enforced by 
Authorised Officers performing random 
inspections of licensed vehicles. 

  In any 
advertisement 
publicising their 
limousine service, 
the operator must 
state that the vehicle 
is only licensed to 
carry 8 passengers. 

To inform customers of the maximum 
carrying capacity of the vehicle. 
 

11. Seat Belts  
 

Seatbelts must be 
fitted to all seats and 
must be worn at all 
times by passengers 
whilst the vehicle is 
in motion.  

In accordance with Road Vehicles 
(Construction & Use) Regulations 
1986. 
 

12. Alcohol  
 

Alcoholic drinks 
provided in the 
vehicle shall be  
under the terms of 
an appropriate 
licence relating to 
the retail sale and 
supply of alcohol.  

To comply with alcohol licensing 
requirements and to safeguard public 
safety. 
 

  Alcohol shall only be 
served while the 
vehicle is stationary.  
Whilst the vehicle is 
in motion the 
receptacle shall be 
placed in a secure 
holder.  

Public safety 

  

60



 

43 
 

  If the passengers 
are below the age of 
18 years, then no 
alcohol shall be 
permitted in the 
vehicle for 
consumption in the 
vehicle. 

Protection of children from harm 

  Any glassware in the 
vehicle must be 
made of  
strengthened glass. 
Use of polycarbonate 
vessels should be 
considered. 

Public safety 

13. Entertainment 
 

The driver shall not 
play or permit the 
performance  
of any media that, 
given its age 
classification or 
content, is 
unsuitable for the 
age of any of the 
passengers in the 
vehicle. 

To safeguard children and vulnerable 
adult passengers from viewing 
unsuitable material.  
 

13. Entertainment 
(cont.) 

The limousine 
operator shall ensure 
that a Performing 
Rights Society 
licence is held (if 
appropriate). 

Many limousines have the capability of 
playing recorded media for the 
entertainment of customers and so the 
operator must ensure the appropriate 
royalties are paid. 

  If the limousine 
parks to provide 
some form of  
entertainment to its 
passengers then a 
Premises Licence 
must be in place in 
accordance with the 
Licensing Act 2003. 

Entertainment regulated under the Act 
includes recorded TV, video, video 
games, loudspeakers, or 
any other activity provided for the 
passenger’s enjoyment. 
 

14. Authority 
Notices 

The proprietor shall 
when directed by the 
Authority, display 
and maintain any 
notices in a 
conspicuous 
position. 

To convey information to passengers 
where appropriate. 
 

  

61



 

44 
 

15 Advertisements  
 

No other signs, 
notices or any other 
marking will be 
displayed on or in 
the vehicle without 
the written consent 
of the Authority. 

To ensure that any material displayed 
in the limousine is suitable for public 
viewing. 
 

16. Luggage  
 

Ensure that loose 
luggage is not 
carried within the 
passenger 
compartment of the 
vehicle. 

Passenger safety.  
 

17. Safety Hammer  
 

Vehicles must be 
supplied with a 
safety hammer, 
capable of being 
used to break the 
glass windows of the 
vehicle and shall be 
securely located in 
the  driver’s 
compartment but in 
view and accessible 
to passengers in an 
emergency. 

Passenger safety.  
 

18. Identification 
Badges  
 

An approved holder 
displaying the 
private hire vehicle 
licence, as supplied 
by the Authority, 
must be displayed 
on the dashboard of 
the vehicle or on the 
windscreen, in a 
position for all the 
passengers to clearly 
see. 

To show that both the driver and 
vehicle are licensed. 

  The licence 
identification plate, 
as supplied by the 
Authority, must be 
securely fixed to the 
rear exterior boot lid 
of the vehicle. 

To ensure that driver and vehicle is 
licensed, however the distinctive 
appearance of the vehicle will ensure 
that it will not be confused with a 
private road vehicle. 

  

62



 

45 
 

19. CCTV  
 

CCTV is not  
required, as part of 
the licensing regime, 
as it is considered 
that they are best 
left to the judgment 
of the owners and 
drivers themselves. 
The trades are, 
however, 
encouraged to 
consider the 
installation of CCTV 
in their vehicles on a 
voluntary basis.  

Driver and passenger safety.  
 

20. Sunroof/Ceiling 
 

If fitted - any 
sunroof switch to be 
isolated so that it 
cannot be operated 
by passengers.  Any 
mirrored or glass 
ceiling or fixtures 
shall be made of 
strengthened glass. 

Driver and passenger safety. 

21. Interior Adequate 
illumination shall be 
provided in the 
passenger 
compartment.  

Passenger safety.  
 

22. Doors  
 

All doors shall be 
capable of being 
opened from inside 
as well as from 
outside the vehicle. 

To enable access/egress. 

23. Communication  
 

A means of two way 
communication 
between the driver 
and passengers shall 
be installed to the 
satisfaction of the 
Authority. 

Passenger and driver safety.  
 

 
3  DRIVER AND OPERATOR LICENSING REQUIREMENTS  
 
3.1  In addition to the limousine being licensed as a private hire vehicle with the 

Authority, the limousine operator is required to hold a Private Hire Operators’ 
Licence with the Authority.  

 
3.2  All bookings for a limousine licensed as a private hire vehicle must be booked 

through the licensed Private Hire Operator.  

Deleted: It is not proposed that measures such as  

Deleted: should 

Deleted: be 

63



 

46 
 

 
3.3  Once licensed as a private hire vehicle the limousine can only be driven by a 

licensed private hire driver (this licence must also be issued by the Authority).  

64



 

47 
 

APPENDIX C 

APPLICATION PROCEDURES 
 
1.  Application Procedures – Vehicles  
 
1.1 Vehicle proprietors shall make arrangements directly with the Authority approved 

vehicle testing stations to have vehicles examined and tested.  
 
1.2 Prior to submitting the vehicle for examination, proprietors shall ensure that the 

vehicle is in good condition, i.e. mechanically sound; bodywork satisfactory.  
 
1.3 In respect of renewal applications, vehicles shall not be examined more than 4 

weeks before their licence is due to expire. However, it is recommended the 
examination and test is arranged at least 7 days prior to the application 
appointment in case the vehicle examination identifies the need for repair work 
and re-testing which can then be undertaken prior to the expiry of the licence.  

 
1.4 Vehicle proprietors may be subject to a recharge fee by the vehicle testing station 

in respect of vehicles that fail the vehicle test and undergo a second examination 
and test.  

 
1.5 If the 6 monthly compliance test is not carried out on or before the expiry date, 

the licence will be deemed to have expired.  This means that it will be treated as a 
new application subject to it still meeting the age specification.  

 
1.6  When submitting an application the following documents MUST accompany the 

completed application form:-  
 

(i) DVLA Vehicle Registration Certificate (which must show the applicant is 
the registered keeper of the vehicle) or a bill of sale identifying the vehicle, seller 
and purchaser as long as this is accompanied by the part of registration certificate 
showing the year of registration of the vehicle:  
(ii)  Valid Certificate of Insurance;  
(iii) Compliance Certificate;  

 
 and additionally for stretched limousines: 
 

(iv) Individual Vehicle Approval Certificate (IVA) or Single Vehicle 
Approval Certificate (SVA).  
 

1.7 The Authority aims to issue licence plates within the following time scales: 
 
 Grantham – One full working day. 
 Stamford, Bourne and Deepings – 3 full working days. 
  
  

Deleted: annual 

Deleted: presenting 

Deleted:  at the Authority’s Customer Service Centre

65



 

48 
 

2.  Application Procedures – Drivers 
 
2.1 Applications for hackney carriage or private hire driver licences may be made at 

any time of the year. Applicants shall hold a full driving licence issued in the UK, 
the European Community (EC) or one of the other countries in the European 
Economic Area (EEA).  

 
2.2 Applicants shall have held a full UK, EC or EEA driving licence for at least 12 

months and be aged 18 years or over.  
 
2.3 Holders of EC or EEA driving licences must register their non GB driving licence 

with the DVLA.  Alternatively, they may elect to exchange the licence for a GB 
licence.   

 
2.4 All driving licences will be checked annually with the DVLA.  Licenses are required 

to provide the necessary “check code” to the Licensing Team.   
 
2.5 An Enhanced DBS is required with all new applications and every 3 years for 

existing drivers.  At initial application and at renewal for existing licensees 
(following the implementation of this policy), the applicant will be required to 
subscribe to the DBS Update Service throughout the currency of their licence. 

 
2.6 The applicant will be required to provide a range of original documents to prove 

their identify for the Enhanced DBS certificate application. Details of acceptable 
identification are detailed on the Government website: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/documents-the-applicant-must-provide  

 
2.7 Where an applicant who has, from the age of 10 years, spent 6 continuous 

months or more living outside the United Kingdom, they will be required to 
provide a Certificate of Good Conduct from the Embassy of every country where 
they have lived other than the UK (after the age of 10 years old).  This must be 
no older than 3 months at time of presentation. The Certificate of Good Conduct 
must be obtained and translated into English at the applicants own expense. 

 
2.8 Applicants shall make a declaration that they have a statutory right to work in 

the UK and any applicant that has a limited right to work shall not be issued a 
driver licence for a period longer than that limited period. 

 
2.9 Applicants shall provide the Authority with the prescribed medical examination 

form completed by their own General Practitioner (GP), or a Doctor who has 
access to the applicant’s medical history, on first application and every 3 years 
thereafter until aged 65 years. Once the driver has reached the age of 65 years 
or if they have a relevant medical condition, and annual medical will be required 
thereafter. The applicant will be responsible for paying the fee for the 
examination to the relevant surgery and for ensuring all sections are completed 
in full by their GP. The certification must be less than three months old 

 
2.10  Applicants who are required to undertake annual medical examinations will only 
 be issued a licence for a 1 year period. 
 

Deleted: 2.3 Applicants will be required to complete 
an application form and pay the appropriate fee for a 
disclosure from the Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) 
on first application and every 3 years thereafter. ¶
¶

Deleted: Three forms of personal identification are 
required as well as a utility bill showing the applicant’s 
current address. Applicants will also need to provide 
their national insurance number.  

Deleted: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/gove
rnment/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
656625/LATEST_021117_ID_checking_guidelines_for_
DBS_checking_from_October_24th.pdf

Deleted: ¶
¶
2.4 Where an applicant has resided in the UK for less 
than 5 years, or has spent a period of 3 months or 
more within the last 5 years as a non-resident, the 

Authority will require a certificate of good conduct 
authenticated by the relevant embassy of that 
country of residence, provided at the applicant’s own 
expense, in addition to the enhanced DBS check.  
The applicant shall ensure this certificate is translated 
into English by an authorised body.¶

Deleted: ¶
2. Applicants are required to pass a medical 
examination of Group 2 standards and shall provide 
the completed medical examination form supplied by 
the Authority and completed by their own General 
Practitioner, or a General Practitioner with access to 
the applicant’s medical record, on first application and 

every 3 years thereafter until aged 65 years, or if 
they have a relevant medical condition, when annual 
examinations are required. The medical practice is 
likely to make a charge for this service. ¶

66



 

49 
 

2.11  The application will not be accepted unless it is complete and with all the relevant 
 documentation. 
 
2.12  All applications must be submitted IN PERSON at one of the Authority’s offices. 

This is to enable the applicants identify to be verified and a photograph to be 
taken for the driver identification badge.  

 
3.  Driver Qualifications  
 
3.1  Introduction 
 
3.1.1 New driver applicants must demonstrate an understanding of this policy and must 

successfully pass all the following elements before a licence can be granted: 
 

 A basic arithmetic test based on calculating change  
 A local knowledge test of the area the district, focused on the area they 

propose to work in (Hackney Carriage only)  
 An English language skills test (where unable to produce evidence of previous 

qualifications, see section 3.2) 
 
3.1.2  First time applicants having more than 6 points (both current and expired accrued 

over a 4 year period) on their DVLA Driving Licence are required to pass the 
Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership assessment prior to the granting of the 
licence. 

 
3.2   Driver Competency Tests 
 
3.2.1 All new drivers will be required to pass a basic arithmetic test aimed at 

challenging their ability to calculate change.  The pass mark is 100%. 
 
3.2.2 Applicants for Hackney Carriage or Dual Licences will be required to undertake a 

practical local knowledge test aimed at testing their knowledge of the local area 
including locations of interest e.g. railway station etc and main routes. The pass 
mark is 80%. 

 
3.2.3 Applicants who can demonstrate (by producing the original certificate and/or 

examination transcript) that they have previously passed a relevant qualification 
taught and examined in English will not be required to undertake the English-
language skills test.   

 
3.2.4 It is not possible to provide an exhaustive list of all the qualifications that will be 

accepted - however, typical examples may include: 
 GCSE or GCE O-level (grade C or higher) or Scottish Intermediate 2 
 GCE A-level or Scottish Higher 
 NVQ, BTEC, City and Guilds or similar vocational qualification (level 2 or 

higher) 
 Higher education award (for example a degree, HND or HNC) 

qualification equivalent to any of the above, issued by a recognised examining 
body in an English-speaking country other than the UK 

 a TOEFL, IELTS or ESOL qualification at CEFR level B2 or higher  

Deleted: will have to 

Deleted: - Stamford, Bourne, The Deepings and 
Grantham - in order for photographs to be taken by 
digital camera.  …

Deleted: New 

Deleted: In order to maintain the high standards 
that the Authority expects of its drivers operating 
within the district - a basic numeracy, literacy and 
knowledge of locations is assessed by the Authority 
through a knowledge test. ¶

Deleted: Driving LRSP Standards Agency hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle practical driver's test 

Deleted: Local Knowledge Test

67



 

50 
 

 
3.2.5 The Authority requires qualifications which include a significant amount of verbal 

or written content in the English language.  In all cases, the Authorised Officer’s 
decision as to whether to accept a qualification not listed above will be final. If a 
candidate does not hold one of these qualifications, or cannot produce acceptable 
evidence of the qualification, they will be required to undertake the speaking and 
listening assessment. 

 
3.2.6 The assessment involves a speaking and listening assessment provided by a 

specialist external company which must be undertaken over the telephone at the 
Council offices. At the end of the test, a report will be produced (a copy of which 
will be provided to the applicant), with a score indicating overall ability. The 
applicant will also be graded separately on sentence usage, vocabulary, fluency 
and pronunciation, all of which will contribute to the overall score.  

 
3.2.7 The Authority requires applicants to score at least 58 out of 80. This indicates 

that the candidate is a confident English speaker (equivalent to level B2 on The 
Common European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR) scale). Speech 
is generally fluent and intelligible, the applicant is able to speak fluently on a 
range of everyday topics and give and understand most instructions.  

 
3.2.8 The applicant must have attempted all relevant elements of the competency test 

within one month of the Authority receiving the Enhanced DBS Disclosure 
Certificate.   

 
3.2.9 There is no limit on the number of times the test can be taken, however, the 

applicant must pay the appropriate fee on each occasion (for tests and re-tests) 
so is advice to consider whether they require any form of training to improve 
their skills before taking or re-taking the test.   

 
3.2.10 The English language skills test does not apply to existing drivers.  However, any 

existing licensed driver may be required to undertake the assessment (at their 
own expense) where the Authorised Officer believes there are reasonable grounds 
to require assessment.  Reasonable grounds would include instances where 
authorised officers have identified through enforcement activity or a 
substantiated complaint that a driver may have insufficient English language 
proficiency. Where an existing licensed driver fails the assessment, they will be 
referred to the Licensing Committee, this may result in a licence being suspended 
or revoked.  

 
3.2.11 The practical local knowledge test will be undertaken in the area of the district 

where the expects to primarily operate.  Where authorised officers have identified 
through enforcement activity or a substantiated complaint that an existing 
licensed driver may not have adequate knowledge of the area, they will be 
required to re-take the test at their own expense.   Where an existing licensed 
driver fails the assessment, they will be referred to the Licensing Committee, this 
may result in a licence being suspended or revoked. 

  

68



 

51 
 

4  Existing Drivers  
 
4.1  Driver renewals 
 
4.1.1 Drivers who allow their licence to lapse for a period of less than 28 days, will be 

considered as a returning driver but will not be able to drive until the licence has 
been issued. They will also accrue penalty points.   

 
4.1.2  All previously licensed drivers whose licences have expired for more than 28 days 

shall be treated as a new driver and may be required to undertake all the tests 
and other requirements applicable to a new driver. 

 
4.1.3  Existing drivers with more than 8 points on their DVLA Driving Licence will be 

required to pass the  LRSP hackney carriage or private hire vehicle practical 
driver's test within 3 months of acquiring the points or have their licence 
automatically suspended.  In accordance with the DVLA guidelines and for the 
purposes of the ‘fit and proper’ test (sec 51, 1976 Act in respect of private hire 
drivers and sec 59, 1976 Act in respect of hackney carriage drivers), the points 
remain accountable for four years.   

 
4.1.4 The Authority will carry out an annual check of DVLA licence records. Drivers 

must provide the relevant check code to enable this.   
 
4.1.5 The applicant is required to subscribed to the DBS Update Service throughout the 

currency of their licence.  Where an individual fails to renew their subscription 
they will be required to apply for a new Enhanced DBS check and register for the 
update service again.  

 
5  The Consideration of Applications 
 
5.1 The Authority must receive sight of the Enhanced Disclosure from the DBS.  This 

must be submitted in a sealed envelope, marked private and confidential, for the 
attention of the Licensing Team.  This will be viewed by an Authorised Officer who 
is a Counter Signatory or Lead Signatory for the DBS.   

 
5.2 The Authority will not accept portability of DBS certificates that have been 

obtained through a different authority unless all relevant checks e.g. the Barred 
List checks have been obtained.  

 
5.3 If satisfied from the information available that the applicant is a fit and proper 

person to hold a licence, the Authorised Officer has delegated power to grant the 
application and issue a licence. 

 
5.4 A driver badge will be issued which shall remain the property of the Authority and 

must be surrendered if the driver licence is suspended or revoked by the 
Authority.  

 
5.5 The badge shall be displayed on the driver’s person at all times they are acting as 

a licensed driver.  
 

Deleted: ¶
3.2.1 All new drivers are required to undertake a basic 
numeracy, literacy and knowledge test of location 
within the Authority’s area.  There is a separate charge 

for this. ¶
¶
3.2.2 If further tests are required these will be 
arranged and an additional fee will be charged.  This 
will be paid prior to the test.  Subsequent tests must 
be a minimum of one week apart.  These tests must 
be held within two months of the first failed test date ¶
¶
3.2.3 The literacy and numeracy test aims to identify 
understanding of the English language and basic 
mathematics. ¶
¶
3.2.4 The local knowledge test is practical and aims 
to identify knowledge of locations of places of interest 
and routes. ¶
¶
3.2.5 Failure to pass all elements of the knowledge 
test after 3 attempts will deem the applicant 
unsuccessful and the application fee will be refunded, 
minus the administration fee.  Further applications 
will not be considered until at least 6 months has 
elapsed since the failure of the last knowledge test 
when it is expected the applicant will have gained 
sufficient local knowledge of the area. ¶
¶
3.2.6 Drivers re-applying after the failure of 3 
knowledge tests shall be treated as a new driver and 
will be required to undertake all the tests and other 
requirements applicable to a new driver.¶
¶
¶

Deleted: 6 months or longer 

Deleted: Driving Standards Agency

Deleted: a

Deleted: o

Deleted: Licensing 

69



 

52 
 

5.6  If the Authority is not satisfied from the information available that the applicant 
should be granted a licence, the matter will be referred to the Licensing 
Committee for a hearing.  
  

70



 

53 
 

APPENDIX D 

CONVICTIONS POLICY  
 
1.  Introduction  
 

1.1 The key consideration of the Authority and the overriding objective in the licensing 
of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, drivers, and operators is the safety 
of the travelling public. The Authority therefore considers its robust approach to 
convictions and motoring convictions to be fully justified. 
 

1.2 This policy provides a baseline for consideration of the impact of convictions, 
cautions or other matters of conduct on whether a person may be considered fit 
and proper to hold a licence.   This policy relates to applications for Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire driver’s licenses, Vehicle Proprietors licences and Private 
Hire Operator licences.  

 
1.3 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are exempt from the provisions of the 

Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974.  This means there are no “spent” convictions 
and any and all criminal convictions can be taken into account by the Authority in 
assessing an applicant as fit and proper.  Spent convictions can also be taken into 
account when determining suitability of vehicle proprietors and private hire 
operators.  

 
1.4 The Authority has had regard to the Institute of Licensing “Guidance on 

determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 
hire trades”, April 2018 in preparing this policy     

 
2.  General Policy 
 
2.1 Matters that have not resulted in a criminal conviction can be taken into account 

by the Authority.  Within this document, any reference to “conviction” will also 
include matters that amount to criminal behaviour, but which have not resulted in 
conviction.  

 
2.2 Convictions for attempt or conspiracy will be regarded as convictions for the 

substantive crime.  A caution is regard in exactly the same way as a conviction 
(because a caution can only be issued following an admission of guilt and is 
equivalent to a guilty plea on prosecution). 

 
2.3 In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and is 

awaiting trial, the determination of the licence will be deferred until the trail has 
been completed or the charges withdrawn.  Where an existing licensee is charged 
the Authority will decide what action to take on a case by case basis in the light of 
this document.  

 
2.4 In all cases, the Authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in question and 

what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case will be determined 
on its own merit, in the light of this document.   

 

Deleted: RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS TO 
APPLICATIONS…

71



 

54 
 

2.5 For the avoidance of doubt, whether a driver was driving a licensed vehicle or not 
at the time of an offence is not relevant.   

 
2.6 Any offences committed, or unacceptable behaviour reported whilst driving a 

hackney carriage or private hire vehicle, concerning the sue of a hackney carriage 
or private hire vehicle, or in connection with an operator of a private hire vehicle 
will be viewed as aggravating features, and the fact that any other offences were 
not connected with the hackney carriage and private hire trades will not be seen 
as mitigating factors.   

 
2.7 There is no evidence which can provide precise periods of time which must elapse 

after a crime before a person can no longer be considered to be at risk of 
reoffending, but the risk reduces over time.  In light of that, the suggested 
timescales in this document are intended to reduce the risk to the public to  an 
acceptable level. Time periods are relevant and weighty considerations but are not 
the only determining factor.  

 
2.8 Generally, where a person has more than one conviction, this will raise serious 

questions about their safety and suitability. Patterns of repeated unacceptable or 
criminal behaviour are likely to give greater concern than isolated occurrences as 
such patterns can demonstrate a propensity for such behaviour or offending.   

 
2.9 Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the ideal 

situation.  It is accepted that human beings do make mistakes and lapse in their 
conduct for various reasons, and it is further accepted that many learn from 
experience and do not go on to commit further offences.  Accordingly, in many 
cases an isolated conviction, especially if committed some time ago, may not 
prevent the grant or renewal of a licence. 

 
2.10 Once a licence has been granted there is a continuing requirement on the licensee 

to maintain their fit and property person status. Any convictions or other actions 
which would have prevented them from being granted a licence on initial 
application will led to that licence being revoked by the Licensing Committee.    

 
2.11 Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence which is not detailed in this 

guidance, the Authority will take that conviction into account and use this 
document as an indication of the approach that should be taken. 

 
2.12 This document does do not replace the duty of the Authority to refuse to grant a 

licence where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a fit and 
 proper person.  Where a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the 
Authority will consider the matter from first principles and determine the fitness 
and propriety of the individual. 

 
2.13 Each case will be determined on its own merits.  This document provides the 

general principles relating to the determination of cases which shall generally be 
followed where convictions are disclosed.  

 

Deleted: below

72



 

55 
 

2.14 Where an applicant or existing licensee has declared or committed any other 
offence not listed in this document or the circumstances of the case justify it, an 
Authorised Officer may refer it to the Licensing Committee for determination.  

 
3. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 
 
3.1 A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers and the safety 

of other road users.  They also have significant control over passengers who are in 
the vehicle.  As those passengers may be alone, and may also be vulnerable, any 
previous convictions or unacceptable behaviour will weigh heavily against a licence 
being granted or retained.  

 
3.2 Where an applicant has more than one conviction showing a pattern or tendency 

irrespective of time since the convictions, serious consideration will need to be 
given as to whether they are fit and proper. 

 
3.3 In relation to single convictions, the following time periods should elapse following 

completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was imposed) before 
a licence will be granted.  

 
Type of Offence Minimum Time Period 

Since Completion of 
Sentence 

Crimes resulting in death or was intending to cause 
death or serious injury to another person 

A licence will not normally 
be granted 

Crime involving, relating to or having any 
connection with abuse, exploitation, slavery, child 
sexual exploitation, grooming, psychological, 
emotional or financial abuse etc. irrespective of 
whether the victim was an adult or child 

A licence will not normally 
be granted 

Illegal sexual activity or any form of indecency* A licence will not normally 
be granted 

Violence or any offence connected with violence 10 years  
Possession of a weapon or other weapon related 
offence 

7 years 

Crimes involving or connected with discrimination in 
any form 

7 years 

Dishonesty, or any offence where dishonesty is an 
element of the offence  

7 years  

The supply of drugs, or possession with intent to 
supply or connected with intent to supply 

10 years  

Possession of drugs, or related to the possession of 
drugs  

5 years and may have to 
undergo testing at own 
expense to demonstrate 
not using controlled drugs  

Drink driving or driving under the influence of drugs 7 years and may have to 
undergo testing at own 
expense to demonstrate 
not using controlled drugs 

73



 

56 
 

Using a hand-held mobile phone or hand-held 
device while driving 

5 years since completion 
of sentence or driving 
ban imposed whichever is 
the later 

Minor traffic or vehicle related offences (see 3.4.1 
and 3.4.2) 

Where an applicant has 7 
or more points on their 
DVLA licence, a licence 
will not normally be 
granted until at least 5 
years 

Major traffic or vehicle related offences (see 3.4.3) 7 years 
Convictions concerned or connected to hackney 
carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle 
use) 

7 years 

Convictions for any offence which involved the use 
of a vehicle (including hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles 

7 years 

 
   *in addition to this, a licence will not normally be granted to any applicant 

currently on the Sex Offenders Register or any ‘barred’ list  
 
3.4 Other Motoring Convictions and Offences   
 
3.4.1 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with 

the responsibility of carrying the public.  Any motoring conviction demonstrates a 
lack of professionalism and will be considered seriously.  It is accepted that 
offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor 
traffic offence would not prohibit the grant of a licence or may not result in action 
against an existing licence.  Subsequent convictions reinforce the fact that the 
licensee does not take their professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore 
not a safe and suitable person to be granted or retain a licence. 

 
3.4.2 A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of life, 

driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, 
and has not resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including 
vehicles).  Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA licence for 
minor traffic or similar offences, a licence will not normally be granted until at 
least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 
3.4.3 A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and 

also any offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any 
property (including vehicles).  It also includes driving without insurance or any 
offence connected with motor insurance.  Where an applicant has a conviction for 
a major traffic offence or similar offence, a licence will not be granted until at 
least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 
4.  Private Hire Operators 
 
4.1 A private hire operator (“an operator”) does not have direct responsibility for the 

safety of passengers, other road users or direct contact with passengers who are 

74



 

57 
 

in the private hire vehicle (except where they are also licensed as a private hire 
driver).  However, in performing their duties they obtain and hold considerable 
amounts of personal and private information about their passengers which must 
be treated in confidence and not revealed to others, or used by the operator or 
their staff for criminal or other unacceptable purposes. 

 
4.2 As with drivers, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious 

consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable 
person. 

 
4.3 As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private 

hire system is vital, the same standards will be applied to operators as those 
applied to drivers, which are outlined above. 

 
5 Vehicle Proprietors 
 
5.1 Vehicle proprietors (both hackney carriage and private hire) have two principal 

responsibilities.  Firstly, they must ensure that the vehicle is maintained to an 
acceptable standard at all times and;they must ensure the vehicle is not used for 
illegal or illicit purposes. 

 
5.2 As with drivers, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious 

consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable 
person to be granted or retain a vehicle licence 

 
5.3 As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private 

hire system is vital, the same standards will be applied to proprietors as those 
applied to drivers, which are outlined above. 

 
  

75



 

58 
 

APPENDIX E 

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCE CONDITIONS 
 
1.  Conduct of Driver  
 
1.1  The holder of a Private Hire Driver’s Licence (“the driver”) shall comply with the 
  following conditions:  
 

a) The driver shall be respectably dressed and clean and tidy in appearance.  
 

b) The driver shall, at all times when acting in accordance with the driver’s 
Licence granted to them, wear such badge as supplied by the Authority in  such 
position and manner as to be plainly and distinctly visible at all times. The 
driver shall not allow the badge to be used by any other person or  cause or 
permit any other person to wear it.   On termination or surrender  of the 
driver’s Licence, the badge must be returned to the Authority immediately.  

 
c) The driver shall behave in a civil, polite and orderly manner at all times in the 

course of carrying out their duties as a licensed driver and shall take all 
reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering 
or alighting from the vehicle.  

 
d) The driver shall not wilfully or negligently cause or permit the vehicle licence 

plates to be concealed from public view.  
 

e) The driver who has agreed or has been hired to be in attendance with the 
vehicle at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or prevented  by 
some sufficient cause, punctually attend with such vehicle at such  appointed 
time and place.  

 
f) The driver, when hired to drive to a particular destination shall, subject to any 

directions given by the hirer, proceed to that destination by the  shortest 
route.  

 
g) The driver shall not convey, or permit to be conveyed, in such vehicle any 

number of persons greater than the number of persons specified in the licence 
and also referred to on the vehicle licence plate.  

 
h) The driver shall convey a reasonable amount of luggage and provide 

reasonable assistance in loading and unloading luggage.  
 

i) The driver shall not solicit, by calling out, or otherwise importune any person 
to hire or be carried for hire, and shall not accept an offer for the  hire of the 
vehicle except where that is first communicated to the driver by  the 
Operator.  

 
j) The vehicle shall be presented in a clean and tidy condition for each journey.  

 

Deleted: 1.1 The following guidelines shall be used to 
determine the relevance of criminal and other 
convictions in relation to applications for hackney 
carriage and private hire drivers licences licences and 
private hire operator licences. ¶
¶
1.2 It should be noted that, since 2002, hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicle drivers are 
exempted from the protection of the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974, so that all convictions whether 
spent or not can be considered as to whether they 
are relevant in respect of any proceedings held in 
respect of an application for the grant, renewal or 
cancellation of a licence to be a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle driver.  ¶
¶
2. General Policy ¶
¶
2.1 Each application will be determined on its own 
merits. ¶
¶
2.2 A person with a conviction for serious crime need 
not be permanently barred from obtaining a licence but 
shall be expected to have remained free of conviction 
for 3 to 5 years, according to the circumstances of the 
offence, before an application is granted. ¶
¶
2.3 Some discretion may be appropriate if the offence 
is isolated and there are mitigating circumstances. 
However the overriding consideration will be the 
protection of the public, particularly children and 
vulnerable adults. ¶
¶
2.4 A police caution for violence, dishonesty and drug 
related offences shall generally be taken into account 
for a period of 2 years. In all other cases a police 
caution shall generally be taken into account for a 
period of 12 months. ¶
¶
2.5 Listed in points 3 - 10 below are some general 
principles relating to the determination of applications 
for drivers and operators which shall generally be 
followed where convictions are disclosed. ¶
¶
2.6 References to convictions include police cautions, 
warnings, reprimands and issue of fixed penalty 
notices. ¶
¶
3. Minor Traffic Offences ¶
¶
3.1 Convictions for minor traffic offences such as 
obstruction, waiting in a restricted street, speeding, 
etc. shall not prevent a person from proceeding with 
an application. ¶
¶
3.2 If an existing licensed hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle driver accrues more than 8 points in a four 
year period, or accrues sufficient DVLA penalty points 
to require a period of disqualification of the applicant’s 
driving licence - a hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle driver’s licence may be granted after the 
restoration of the DVLA driving licence, subject to 
them passing the LRSP test.¶
¶
3.3 New or first time applicants having more than 6 
points in a four year period on their DVLA Driving 
Licence are required to pass the DSA test prior to 
submitting their application.¶
¶ ... [1]

76



 

59 
 

k) The private hire vehicle shall only be driven by a licensed Private Hire Driver 
who has the consent of the proprietor of the vehicle.  

 
l) The driver shall comply with any hirer’s request not to drink or eat in the 

vehicle or play any radio or sound equipment which is not connected with  the 
operation of the business.  
 

m) The driver shall not operate the horn as a means of signalling that the vehicle 
has arrived for a hire.  

 
2.  Fares and journeys  
 
2.1  The operator of a private hire vehicle may make their own agreement with the 

hirer as to the fare for a particular journey.  
  
2.2  The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide a written receipt for the fare 

paid. Each receipt should show the date of journey, driver badge number and 
amount paid.  

  
2.3  If the private hire vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, then the driver of the vehicle 

shall, unless the hirer expresses at the commencement of the journey their desire 
to engage by time, bring the meter into operation at the commencement of the 
journey:  

 
(i) Bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag 

or other device, so that the word ‘HIRED’ is legible on the face of the 
taximeter before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance 
and time, and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until the 
termination of the hiring;  

 
(ii) cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any 

part of a hiring which is during the hours of darkness as defined for the 
purposes of the Road Traffic Act 1972, and also at any other time at the 
request of the hirer; and  

 
(iii) not demand from any hirer of a private hire vehicle a fare in excess of any 

previously agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator or, if the 
vehicle is fitted with a fare meter, the fare shown on the face of the meter. 

 
3.  Duties of Licence Holder  
 
3.1  The Driver’s Licence must be made available for inspection, on request, by an 

Authorised Officer/Police Officer.  
 
3.2  The Private Hire Driver’s Licence or copy thereof must be presented to the 

proprietor/operator at the beginning of employment. 
 
3.3  All licences and badges issued remain the property of the Authority at all times. 

They must be returned forthwith when employment as a licensed driver ceases, or 

Deleted: Licensing 

77



 

60 
 

if the licence expires and is not renewed, or where the licence is suspended or 
 revoked.  

 
3.4  The driver must notify the Authority in writing, within 7 days, of any change of 

name or address.  
 
3.5  The driver must notify the Authority, in writing, within a period of 7 days, of any 

conviction for a criminal offence, motoring offence or receipt of a police caution or 
fixed penalty imposed whilst the licence is in force.  

 
3.6  The driver shall report an accident in a private hire vehicle within 72 hours of the 

occurrence, where damage materially affects the safety, performance and 
appearance of the licensed vehicle, or the comfort or convenience of persons 
carried.  

 
3.7  The driver shall keep a copy of these driver conditions in the licensed vehicle 

being used by that driver.  
 
3.8  The driver shall inform the Authority, in writing, immediately, of any deterioration 

in health or injury that would affect their ability to drive a private hire vehicle. 
 
4.  Found Property  
 
4.1  A driver shall, after the termination of each hiring or as soon as practicable 

thereafter, carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have been 
accidentally left therein. Any item(s) found should be handed in as soon as 
possible, and in any event within 48 hours, to the nearest Police Station and left in 
the custody of an Authorised Officer on their giving a receipt for it.  

 
5.  The Carriage of Animals  
 
5.1  A driver shall not carry, in a private hire vehicle whilst being hired, any animal 

which belongs to or is being looked after by themselves, the proprietor or operator 
of the vehicle.  

 
5.2  Animals in the custody of passengers may be carried, at the driver’s discretion, 

provided they are restrained in a safe manner.  
 
5.3  A driver shall, however, carry assistance dogs. Assistance dogs include guide 

dogs for the blind or partially sighted, hearing dogs for the hard of hearing, and 
other assistance dogs which assist disabled people with a physical impairment. 

 
5.4  Any driver with a medical condition, which may be exacerbated by such dogs, may 

apply to the Authority for exemption from the condition in paragraph 5.3.  A 
certificate of exemption will be supplied on production of suitable medical 
evidence.  

 
6.  Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles  
 

78



 

61 
 

6.1  All drivers of wheelchair accessible vehicles must:  
 

•  Be fully conversant with the correct method to operate ramps, lifts and 
wheelchair restraints that can be fitted to the vehicle;  

•  ensure that all wheelchairs are firmly secured to the vehicle using an approved 
restraining system and that the brakes of the wheelchair have been applied prior 
to the vehicle setting off; and  

•  ensure that any wheelchairs, equipment and passengers are carried in such a 
way that no danger is likely to be caused to any passenger, in accordance with 
the Road Vehicles (Construction & Use) Regulations 1986.  

79



 

62 
 

APPENDIX F 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYELAWS 
  
Made under section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, and section 17l of the Public 
Health Act 1875, by the South Kesteven District Council with respect to hackney 
carriages in that district. 
 
Interpretation 
 
1. Throughout these byelaws "the Council" means the South Kesteven District Council 

and "the district" means South Kesteven. 
 
Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each hackney carriage 
corresponding with the number of its licence, shall be displayed 
 
2. (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the licence 

granted to him in respect of the carriage to be marked on the outside and 
inside of the carriage, on plates affixed thereto supplied by the Council. 

 
 (b) A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall:- 
 
  (i) not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be 

concealed from public view while the carriage is standing or plying for 
hire; 

 
  (ii) not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such 

plate so defaced that any figure or material particular is illegible. 
 
Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or provided 
 
3. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall: 
 
 (a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may 

communicate with the driver; 
 
 (b) cause the roof or covering to be kept water-tight; 
 
 (c) provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less 

than one window on each side; 
 
 (d) cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered; 
 
 (e) cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable 

covering; 
 
 (f) cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well 

maintained and in every way fit for public service; 
 

80



 

63 
 

 (g) provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to 
carry luggage; 

 
 (h) provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position 

as to be readily available for use; and 
 
 (i) provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage 

and a separate means of ingress and egress for the driver. 
 
4. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause any taximeter with which the 

carriage is provided to be so constructed, attached, and maintained as to comply 
with the following requirements, that is to say:- 

 
 (a) the taximeter shall be fitted with a device the operation of which will bring the 

taximeter into action and cause the word "HIRED" to appear on the face of the 
taximeter; 

 
 (b) such device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the 

taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the 
taximeter; 

 
 (c) when the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the 

taximeter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate of fare which 
the proprietor or driver is entitled to demand and take for the hire of the 
carriage by time as well as for distance in pursuance of the tariff fixed by the 
Council; 

 
 (d) the word "FARE" shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters 

so as clearly to apply to the fare recorded thereon; 
 
 (e) the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof 

are at all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, 
and for that purpose the letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably 
illuminated during any period of hiring; and 

 
 (f) the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with 

seals or other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to 
tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing 
the seals or other appliances. 

 
 Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of hackney 
 carriages plying within the district in their several employments, and 
 determining whether such drivers shall wear any and what badges 

 
5. The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall: 
 
 (a)  when standing or plying for hire, keep the device fitted in pursuance of the 

byelaw in that behalf locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the 
face of the taximeter; 

 

81



 

64 
 

 (b) before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance and time, 
bring the taximeter into action by operating the device, so that the word 
"HIRED" is legible on the face of the taximeter and keep the taximeter in 
action until termination of the hiring; and 

 
 (c) cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any 

part of a hiring which is between half-an-hour after sunset and half-an-hour 
before sunrise, and also any other time at the request of the hirer. 

 
6. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any 

person to tamper with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the 
fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto. 

 
7. The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not 

actually hired: 
 
 (a) proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands appointed by the Council; 
 
 (b) if a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of carriages 

authorised to occupy it, proceed to another stand; 
 
 (c) on arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages 

authorised to occupy it, station the carriage immediately behind the carriage 
or carriages on the stand and so as to face in the same direction; and 

 
 (d) from time to time when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or 

moved forward cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place 
previously occupied by the carriage driven off or moved forward. 

 
8. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire shall 

not make use of the services of any other person for the purpose of importuning 
any person to hire such carriage. 

 
9. The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and 

shall take all reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or 
entering or alighting from the vehicle. 

 
10. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to 

be in attendance with the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless 
delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually attend with such carriage 
at such appointed time and place. 

 
11. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be 

conveyed in such carriage any greater number of persons than the number of 
persons specified on the plate affixed to the outside of the carriage. 

 
12. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a 

hackney carriage he shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear 
that badge in such position and manner as to be plainly visible. 

 

82



 

65 
 

13. The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when 
requested by any person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage: 

 
 (a) convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
 
 (b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; and 
 
 (c) afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any 

building, station, or place at which he may take up or set down such person. 
 

Provisions fixing the rates or fares to be paid for hackney carriages within the 
district, and securing the due publication of such fares 

 
14. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and  take 

for the hire of the carriage the rate of fare prescribed by the council, the rate or 
fare being calculated by distance and time unless the hirer express at the 
commencement of the hiring his desire to engage by time. 

 
15. Provided always that where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter shall be 

hired by distance and time, the proprietor or driver thereof shall not be entitled to 
demand and take a fare greater than that recorded on the face of the taximeter, 
save for any extra charges authorised by the Authority which it may not be possible 
to record on the face of the taximeter. 

 
(a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares fixed 

by Council resolution to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly 
distinguishable letters and figures 

 
(b) The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of fares in 

accordance with this byelaw shall not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer the 
letters or figures in the statement to be concealed or rendered illegible at any 
time while the carriage is plying or being  used for hire. 

 
Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally 
left in hackney carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof 

 
16. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the 

termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the 
carriage for any property which may have been accidentally left therein. 

 
17. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left 

therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or 
handed to him: 

 
 (a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours, if not sooner 

claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district and 
leave it in the custody of the officer in charge on his giving a receipt for it; and 

 
 (b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re-

delivered an amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value 

83



 

66 
 

(or the fare for the distance from the place of finding to the police station, 
whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds. 

 
Penalties 
 
18. Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on 

summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale and in the 
case of a continuing offence to a further fine not exceeding two pounds each day 
during which the offence continues after conviction therefore. 

 
Repeal of Byelaws 
 
19.  The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by the Grantham 

Borough Council on the 1st  day of September 1953 and which were confirmed by 
one of Her Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State on the 16th day of February 
1954 are hereby repealed. 

 
Given under the Common Seal of the South Kesteven District Council this eighth day of 
June 2000. 
 
 
The Common Seal of the 
SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
was hereunto affixed in the presence of:- 
 
J G Bishop, Head of Administration   (SEAL) 
 
 
 
The foregoing byelaws are hereby confirmed by the Secretary of State and shall come 
into force on the 1st day of January 2001. 
 
E C Neve 
 
Signed by authority of the Secretary of State 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

84



 

67 
 

APPENDIX G 

CODE OF GOOD CONDUCT – This code of conduct will be issued as a separate 
document to all drivers on application or renewal. 
 
This Code should be read in conjunction with the other statutory and policy requirements 
set out in this document.  By accepting their licence, the holder is deemed to have 
accepted the terms and conditions. 
 
1 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS 
 
 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers (“drivers”) are in a position of trust in 

respect of the safety and welfare of their passengers. The Authority, through its 
licensing team and committees, have to ensure that all drivers are ‘fit and proper’ 
to undertake their work as drivers and they are also ambassadors for the South 
Kesteven District. It is essential that the council and drivers work together to ensure 
members of the public are treated with dignity and respect and any concerns are 
reported.  

 
 On occasions, drivers may become aware of or have suspicions that their 

passengers may be the victim of abuse, neglect or exploitation either sexual or 
otherwise, or at risk of becoming a victim.  In addition, drivers themselves can be 
accused of misconduct or inappropriate behaviour through the misinterpretation of 
the driver’s action or conversation. 

 
 South Kesteven District Council has introduced this Code of Conduct which is 

aimed at providing the best possible service by protecting both passengers and 
drivers, ensuring that concerns, suspicions of abuse, neglect or exploitation can be 
reported and therefore minimise the risk of misunderstandings.   

 
 Drivers are expected to comply with this Code of Conduct. Failure to do so may 

result in the driver being referred to Committee to explain to Councillors the 
circumstances surrounding any incident.  Where there is a repeated and/or serious 
failure to comply drivers can expect to have their licence suspended or revoked. 

 
 It should be noted that the code does not over-ride any obligations that are 

enshrined in legislation, licence conditions or contractual obligations, such as 
County Council contracts under the Green Badge scheme. 

 
Drivers should: 
 

 Place the safety and well-being of passengers before any personal or 
 commercial goals and before loyalty to friends; 

 respect all individuals, regardless of age, developmental stage,  disability 
gender, sexual orientation, gender reassignment religion/belief,  language 
spoken, race or ethnicity. 

  

85



 

68 
 

Be aware of: 
 

 The importance of the use of appropriate language; 
 Be aware of the vulnerability of children and some adults, and of passengers 

with additional needs, be they adults or children; 
 Any instruction given about the care or first aid requirements of a passenger 
 The caution necessary in dealing with passengers in distress; 
 Personal beliefs and standards, including dress and religion; 
 Passengers misreading situations; 
 The use of social networking sites such as Facebook and Twitter. These are 

 public websites and therefore passengers conveyed may access a Driver’s 
 site. Ensure you use the appropriate privacy settings to avoid passengers 
 viewing your social media sites. 

 
Should never: 
 

 Become over-friendly in any way with passengers or engage in any form of 
relationship, infatuation, crush or show favouritism; 

 Touch a passenger, unless in an emergency situation, or if required to do so 
because of the additional needs of the passenger.  

 Administer medication unless a specific request has been made by the hirer; 
 Photograph or video passengers in your care unless used in compliance with 

data protection legislation and any relevant codes of practice issued by the 
Home Office or Information Commissioner’s Office;  

 Engage with passengers through social networking sites (such as Facebook 
and Twitter), instant messengers (such as MSN) or any other online 
communication software such as mobile phone applications or video games; 

 Phone or send text messages to passengers other than directly concerning 
the hiring of your vehicle; 

 Swear, make personal or humiliating comments, or tell inappropriate jokes; 
 Offer or accept sweets, cigarettes or gifts of any sort; 
 Stop anywhere other than the specified pick up/drop off points other than at 

the request of the hirer; 
 Show passengers videos or pictures on your mobile phone or any other 

electronic device; 
 Refuse to carry any passenger without reasonable excuse.  

 
Safeguarding: 
 

If a Driver has concerns or suspect abuse, neglect or exploitation of a passenger 
then these should not be ignored.  If there are any doubts or concerns about the 
way someone is being treated, it is important to report this.  The safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults is everybody’s business. Remember that information 
could help a vulnerable child or adult. 

 
If a driver is working under a Lincolnshire County Council contract then those 
procedures set out in the Driver and Passenger Assistant Pack should be followed 
alongside any training received by the Driver. 

 

86



 

69 
 

 Otherwise the following procedures should be complied with in reporting any 
information or suspicions you may have of anyone being subject to abuse, neglect 
or exploitation: 
 

Action to be taken if you have concerns 
 

 If your concerns are of an urgent matter or you believe that a crime has been 
committed and there is an immediate risk of danger, telephone the police on 
999 or 112 (from a mobile).   

 If you are suspicious or are concerned that a child or an adult is suffering or is 
likely to suffer significant harm, including any form of mistreatment, abuse, 
neglect or exploitation but is not of an urgent matter, please call the Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Customer Service Centre on 01522  782111 for children or 
01522 782155 for adults.   

 If you would prefer to speak to the police on a non-urgent matter then call them 
on 101 and follow directions for the Lincolnshire Police. 

                                                                                 
 
2 Responsibility to the Trade  

 
 Licence holders shall endeavour to promote the image of the hackney carriage and 

private hire trades by:  
 

 complying with this Code of Good Conduct;  
 complying with all the conditions of their licence, byelaws and the Authority’s 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy; 
 behaving in a civil, orderly and responsible manner at all times. 

 
3 Responsibility to Clients  

 
Licence holders shall:  

 
 maintain their vehicle(s) in a safe and satisfactory condition at all times; 
 keep their vehicle(s) clean and suitable for hire to the public at all times; 
 attend punctually when undertaking pre-booked hires; 
 assist, where necessary, passenger into and out of the vehicle; 
 provide reasonable assistance to passengers with their luggage. 

 
4  Responsibility to Residents  

 
To avoid nuisance to residents when picking up or waiting for a fare, a driver shall:  
 
 not sound the vehicle’s horn illegally between 11.30pm and 7.00am or from a 

stationary vehicle, except when another road user poses a danger);  
 keep the volume of music media player media systems and VHF radios to a 

minimum;  
 switch off the engine if required to wait; and  
 take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to residents 

of the neighbourhood, which might arise from the conduct of their business. 
 

87



 

70 
 

 
5  Responsibilities at Ranks and Offices  

 
Licence holders shall: 

 
 rank in an orderly manner and proceed along the rank in order and promptly; 
 remain in attendance of their vehicle; 
 not allow their music media players or VHF radios to cause disturbance to 

residents of the neighbourhood; and 
 take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to residents 

of the neighbourhood which might arise from the conduct of their business. 
  
6  General  

 
Drivers shall:  

 
 pay attention to personal hygiene and dress so as to present a professional 

image to the public; 
 be polite, helpful and fair to passengers; 
 drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians; 
 obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all times; 
 not consume alcohol immediately before or at any time whilst driving or being 

in charge of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle; 
 not drive while having misused legal or taken illegal drugs; 
 fulfil their responsibility to ensure that adequate rest periods are taken during 

and after the working day; 
 not eat in the vehicle in the presence of customers; and 
 respect officers at authority offices and elsewhere during the normal course of 

their duties. 

88



 

71 
 

APPENDIX H 

PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR LICENCE CONDITIONS 
 
1  Standards of Service  
 
The Operator shall:   
 
1.1  Provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the public at all 

reasonable times;  
 
1.2  Ensure that, their office staff behave in a civil and orderly manner at all times;  
 
1.3  Ensure that, when a vehicle has been hired, it arrives punctually at the appointed 

place unless delayed by unforeseen circumstances;  
 
1.4  Ensure that premises provided for the purpose of hiring or waiting are kept clean, 

adequately lit, heated and ventilated;   
 
1.5  Ensure that any waiting area provided has adequate seating facilities and, if 

provided, any telephone facilities are in good working order.  
 
1.6  Ensure that any sanitary conveniences and washing facilities provided for 

customers and/or licensed drivers and vehicle proprietors are placed at readily 
accessible areas in the building. They and the rooms containing them should be 
kept clean, be adequately ventilated and lit. Washing facilities should have running 
hot and cold water, soap and clean towels or other means of cleaning or drying. 
Men and women should have separate facilities unless each facility is in a separate 
room with a lockable door and is for use by only one person at a time.  

 
2  Records  
 
2.1  Records shall be kept by operators in a suitable form that does not permit 

backdating and in a format easily able to be inspected by an Authorised 
Officer/Police Officer.  

 
2.2  Extracts of the records shall be provided to, or made available to be taken away 

by Authorised Officers/Police Officers. 
  
2.3  All records maintained by the operator shall be kept for at least 12 months after 

entry and shall be produced for inspection, on request, by any Authorised 
Officers/Police Officers.  

 

Deleted:  Licensing 

Deleted: Licensing 

Deleted:  Licensing 

89



 

72 
 

3  Bookings  
 
3.1  Prior to each journey, the operator shall enter the following particulars of every 

booking in the above records (2): 
 

• the date of the booking;  
• the name of the hirer;  
• the time and date of pick-up;  
• the address of the point of pick-up;  
• the destination;  
 any fare quoted at the time of booking; 
• the plate number of the vehicle allocated;  
• the badge number (or other identification) of the driver allocated; and  
• the details of any booking subcontracted to another South Kesteven District 

Council licensed operator or hackney carriage in the district.  
 
4  Vehicles  
 
4.1  The operator shall keep a copy of licences issued by the Authority, for private hire 

vehicles it operates.  
 
5  Drivers  
 
5.1  The operator shall keep a copy of licences issued by the Authority, for drivers it 

operates.  
 
5.2  The operator shall keep records of the following:-  
 

• driver call signs;  
• date of when a new driver begins service; and  
• date when a driver ceases service.  

 
5.3 If the operator becomes aware that any driver is suffering from any illness, 

disability or condition which may affect the driver’s ability to drive then they shall 
inform the Authority immediately.  

 
6  Change of Address  
 
6.1  The operator shall notify the Authority in writing of any change affecting this 

licence, including change of address (including any address from which they 
operate or otherwise conduct their business), which takes place during the currency 
of the licence. Such notice shall be given within 7 days of the change to the 
Licensing Team.  

90



 

73 
 

7  Disclosure of Convictions  
 
7.1  The operator shall, within 7 days of conviction, notify the Authority’s Licensing 

Team  in writing of any conviction or fixed penalty notice imposed on him/her 
during the currency of his/her operator’s licence. If the operator is a company or 
partnership, this requirement shall apply if any of the directors or partners receives 
a conviction or fixed penalty notice. 

 
7.2 The provisions of the Immigration Act 2016 add immigration offences to the list of 

grounds on which operator and private hire hackney carriage driver offences may 
be suspended or revoked by the Authority.  Where licences expire, or are revoked 
or suspended on immigration grounds they must be returned to the Authority’s 
Licensing Team of the Authority within 7 days. Failure to return the licence is a 
criminal offence.  

 
8 Insurance  

 
8.1  The operator shall ensure that a certificate of motor insurance covers every private 

hire vehicle operated by him under the licence, which is compliant with the Road 
Traffic Act 1988 as regards the carriage of passengers for hire or reward. This must 
be produced to the Authorised officer on request.      
 

8.2  If the operator has premises to which the public have access, in connection with the 
hiring of vehicles, he/she shall ensure that there is public liability insurance in force, 
which indemnifies him/her against any claim for loss, damage or personal injury by 
any person using those premises.  

 
9 Display of Terms and Conditions  
 
9.1  The operator shall keep a copy of these conditions at all premises used for a private 

hire business and shall make the same available for inspection by customers and on 
request by Authorised Officers and the Police. 

  
Note: Planning Consent  
 
To operate a private hire business from a residential dwelling, planning permission for 
such business use may be required. All applications for an Operator’s Licence are 
forwarded to the Planning Department for their approval. It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure that any necessary planning permissions are in place. 

91



 

74 
 

APPENDIX I 

ENFORCEMENT POLICY & PRACTICE 
 
1 Enforcement Policy Statement 
  
1.1 It is the statutory duty of the Authority to ensure that licensed drivers and 

operators are licensed correctly and carry out their trade in accordance with both 
the relevant law, byelaws, statutory notices, policies and conditions attached to 
licences. 
 

1.2 Each application and enforcement action will be determined on its own merits. 
 
1.3 Determination of applications and enforcement decisions will be made in 

accordance with this policy and this Authority’s constitution. Officers have 
delegated powers to make decisions and may also refer certain matters to the 
Licensing Committee if appropriate. 
 

1.4 Members, when determining applications for a licence, renewals or reviews of a 
licence, will have regard to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire legislation, this 
Policy and any other relevant legislation, case law, guidance and other relevant 
South Kesteven District Council policies. 

 
1.5 All enforcement will be undertaken in accordance with the Authority’s current 

enforcement policy. 
  

92



 

75 
 

APPENDIX J 

PENALTY POINTS SCHEME 
 
The Scheme  
 
1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 Hackney carriage and private hire operators, drivers and vehicles are principally 

governed by the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847, Authority’s Byelaws and the Rules, Regulations and 
Conditions set by the Licensing Committee. 

 
1.2 Should operators, drivers or proprietors of vehicles commit an offence or breach 

of those rules, regulations or conditions of licence, notices will be given detailing 
the offence/breaches and the number of points allocated.  

 
1.3 The aim of a penalty point’s scheme is to work in conjunction with other 

enforcement options.  It provides a formalised, stepped enforcement plan.  The 
purpose of the scheme is to record misdemeanours and to act as a record of 
driver’s behaviour and conduct, so as to ascertain whether they are a fit and 
proper person.  It does not prejudice the Authority’s ability to take other actions.   

 
1.4 The primary objective of the penalty point’s scheme is to improve the levels of 

compliance and help improve the standards, safety and protection of the travelling 
public. 

 
1.5 Penalty points remain for a rolling twelve month period so as to allow any older 

points to be considered as spent and therefore excluded from the running total 
recorded against any individual licence holder.  However, spent points may still be 
considered if a pattern of misdemeanours emerge ie regularly being late for 
renewals and submissions of compliance tests. 

 
2.  Issue of Penalty Points 
 
2.1 The Authorised Officer shall investigate alleged offences or breaches of the rules 

or conditions.  When substantiated this may result in the issue of penalty points as 
detailed.  

 
2.2 Complaints concerning significant breaches of conduct, conditions of licence or 

policy, or a pattern of poor behaviour/repeated breaches of similar offences,  will 
be subject to investigation by Authorised Officers and may be  referred to the 
Licensing Committee for consideration.  .   

 
2.3  Where a licence holder accumulates 12 or more penalty points in any 12 month 

period, the matter will be referred to the Licensing Committee for the Committee 
to decide whether the driver remains a ‘fit and proper’ person.  The Committee 
may then suspend or revoke a licence, or issue a warning to the licence holder, 
depending on the circumstances.  Periods of suspension of a licence by the 
Committee will be dependent on the nature of the breaches of the 

Deleted: Licensing 

Deleted: reported 

Deleted:  the 

Deleted: issue of 

Deleted: discretionary points

93



 

76 
 

legislation/conditions and the compliance history of the individual.  Suspension 
periods will normally vary between 7 to 31 days. 

 
2.4 Points issued to either the proprietor of a vehicle or a driver will be confirmed in 

writing within 10 working days from the discovery of the contravention.  
 
2.5 The system will operate without prejudice to the Authority’s ability to take other 

action that it is entitled to take under legislation, byelaws and regulations. 
 
2.6 A licence holder issued with penalty points may appeal against such a decision to 

the Head of Service in the first instance within seven days of the receipt of the 
notice.  If a satisfactory resolution cannot be found then the appeal will be 
reviewed by a manager from an independent business area for a decision. If the 
recipient still does not agree with the decision the appeal will be heard by the 
Licensing Committee.   

 
2.7 If a decision is made to issue points to a proprietor/driver rather than prosecute, 

for a matter which is also a criminal offence e.g. bald tyres; no badge etc., those 
person(s) will not then be the subject of a prosecution by the Authority in respect 
of the same matter for which the points were issued, but is not exempt from 
action by other authorities e.g. The Police.  

Deleted: a licensing officer

Deleted: referred 

Deleted: to

Deleted: licensing officer or the independent 
business manager, …

94



 

77 
 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PENALTY POINT SCHEME 

 

 
 Offence/Breach of Condition 

Maximum 
Points 
Awarded by 
Authorised 
Officers 

Driver 

Vehicle 
Proprietor 
or 
Operator 

1 Providing false or misleading information on 
licence application form / failing to provide 
relevant information or the relevant fee 
(including dishonoured cheques). 

6   

2 Failure to notify, in writing, the Authority of 
change of address within 7 calendar days. 

3   

3 Refusal to accept hiring without reasonable 
cause e.g. drunk or rude customer.   6   

4 Unreasonable prolongation of journeys or any 
misconduct regarding the charging of fares.   6   

5 Plying for hire by private hire drivers. 9   
6 Using a mobile phone whilst driving as 

witnessed by an officer of the Authority. 6   

7 Using unlicensed vehicle for carrying 
passengers for hire or reward or vehicle 
without insurance. 

12   

8 Failure to produce relevant documents within 
timescale, when requested by an Authorised 
Officer/Police Officer.  

4    

9 Failure to maintain vehicle in a satisfactory 
condition – including interior or exterior.  4    

10 Failure to provide proof of insurance cover 
when requested. 

6   

11 Failure to produce hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle for testing when required.  6   

12 Using a vehicle whilst subject to a suspension 
order issued by an Authorised Officer/Police 
Officer.  

12   

13 Using a vehicle for which the licence has been 
revoked. 

12   

14 Failure to report, in writing, within 72 hours, 
accident or damage to licensed vehicle, which 
would cause the vehicle  
to breach licence condition.  

4   

  

Deleted: Licensing 

Deleted:  Licensing

95



 

78 
 

 
 Offence/Breach of Condition 

Maximum 
Points 
Awarded by 
Authorised 
Officers 

Driver 
Vehicle 
Proprietor 
or Operator 

15 Carrying more passengers than stated on the 
vehicle licence.  6   

16 Failure to display external/internal licence 
plate as required.  4   

17 Carrying an offensive weapon in the vehicle.  12   
18 Failure to notify transfer of private hire or 

hackney carriage vehicle licence.  4   

19 Failure to carry an effective fire extinguisher. 4   
20 Failure to apply for prior approval for 

advertising signage on the outside of the 
vehicle. 

3   

21 Displaying unsuitable or inappropriately sited 
signs or advertisements in or on the vehicle. 

3   

22 Failure to use authorised roof light.  4   
23 Displaying unauthorised written or other 

material on any window. 4   

24 Failure to comply with a requirement, provide 
information or assistance to an Authorised 
Officer/Police Officer. 

6   

25 Using a non-approved or non-calibrated 
taximeter. 

6   

26 Obstruction of Authorised Officer/Police 
Officer wishing to examine a licensed vehicle. 12   

27 Evidence of smoking/vaping or using e-
cigarettes or other similar devices vehicle. 3    

28 Evidence of food or drink in vehicle.  *see below 3   
29 Displaying any feature on a private hire 

vehicle that may suggest that it is a taxi. 6   

30 Using a vehicle the appearance of which 
suggests that it is a taxi.   6   

31 Failure to carry an assistance dog without 
requisite exemption. 12   

32 Driver not holding a current DVLA Driving 
licence.  12   

33 Failure to wear driver’s badge.  4   
34 Failure to notify, in writing, a change in 

medical circumstances.  
6   

35 Unsatisfactory appearance of driver. 3   
36 Failure to observe rank discipline (hackney 

carriage only).  
4   

  

Deleted:  Licensing

Deleted: Licensing 

96



 

79 
 

 
 Offence/Breach of Condition 

Maximum 
Points 
Awarded by 
Authorised 
Officers 

Driver 

Vehicle 
Proprietor 
or 
Operator 

37 Failure to maintain proper records of  
private hire vehicle.   3   

38 Failure to keep or produce records of private 
hire bookings or other documents required to 
be kept or produced.   

6   

39 Misleading use of the words ‘Taxi’ or ‘Cab’ on 
advertising materials.  

3   

40 Failure to issue receipt on request.  3   
41 Failure to return vehicle licence plate within 7 

days after due notice following expiry, 
revocation or suspension of such licence. 

4   

42 Unsatisfactory behaviour or conduct of driver. 4    
43 Failure to notify the Authority, in writing, of 

any motoring or criminal convictions within 7 
days of said conviction or cautions during 
period of current licence.   

6   

44 Failure to behave in a civil and orderly 
manner.   4   

45 Failure to give assistance with 
loading/unloading luggage to or from any 
building or place. 

3   

46 Failure to display table of fares. 4   
47 Failure to carry legal spare wheel or 

authorised suitable alternative and tools.   
4   

48 Failure to attend punctually at appointed time 
and place without sufficient cause. 4   

49 Using a licensed vehicle with defective 
tyre(s). 

4 per tyre   

50 Failure to submit Certificate of Compliance to 
the Authority within 2 working days of the 
expiry of the certificate following the 
intermediate 6 monthly inspection.   

4   

51 Failure to display a current licence plate. 4   
52 Waiting or stopping in any area where parking 

is prohibited unless requested by a paying 
customer present in the vehicle. 

3   

53 Failure to comply with any other licence 
condition not detailed in the table.  

3   

  

Deleted: bald 

Deleted: ** see below

97



 

80 
 

 
 Offence/Breach of Condition 

Maximum 
Points 
Awarded by 
Authorised 
Officers 

Driver 

Vehicle 
Proprietor 
or 
Operator 

54 Failure to renew driver, vehicle or operator 
licence before expiry. 4   

55 Leaving a taxi unattended on a taxi rank 4   
56 Idling a vehicle’s engine unnecessarily when 

stationary on a Hackney Carriage Rank or 
Stand  

4   

57 Failure to notify of installation or removal of 
CCTV system 

4   

 
*  Drivers shall not leave evidence of food or drink in their vehicle whilst working 
 
Ticks indicate potential recipients of penalty points for infringements. 
 
N.B. Certain infringements may result in drivers, proprietors or operators receiving 
penalty points. Points may be awarded to one or several persons depending upon the 
nature of the infringement, however each case must be determined on its own merits. 
 
Certain matters are specific to hackney carriages, private hire drivers or private hire 
operators. 
 
 

Deleted: ** Further conditions may be added as the 
policy is reviewed.  Not all offences are listed.¶

98



 

81 
 

APPENDIX K 
 

EXEMPTION FROM REQUIREMENT TO DISPLAY AN EXTERNAL VEHICLE 
IDENTIFICATION PLATE  

 
1. Statement of Intent 
 
1.1 The aim of this guidance is to ensure public safety whilst taking a balanced 

approach to licensing requirements.  Its objective is the provision of an exemption 
to allow “executive type vehicles” to operate without displaying external 
identification plates. 

 
2. Introduction 
 
2.1 The displaying of the external identification plate on a licensed vehicle and a 

driver’s badge is important in terms of public safety and reassurance.  They indicate 
to the travelling public that prior to being licensed both the vehicle and  the driver 
have been subjected to checks to ensure their (the public’s) safety. 

 
2.2   However, there are occasions when the requirement to display an external 

identification plate may have the opposite effect in terms of customer safety and 
could have commercial implications for the operating business.  The display of Local 
Authority licence plates externally may also deter some corporate customers from 
using the service; and in some circumstances the identification of the vehicle as a 
licensed vehicle may allow “high risk” passengers to be more readily targeted 
putting both them and the driver at risk. 

 
2.3 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires that private 

hire vehicles display an identification plate (licence plate) and drivers of those 
vehicles wear a driver’s badge.  The same legislation also allows South Kesteven 
District Council to exempt vehicles from the need to display an identification plate 
and, where that exemption applies, the requirement to wear a private hire driver’s 
badge. 

 
2.4 It is not intended that all private hire vehicles licensed by South Kesteven District 

Council should be exempt from the Authority’s requirement to display an external 
identification plate, however the Authority recognises that there may be 
circumstances when it would be appropriate for vehicles operating this type of 
service, to be considered suitable for such an exemption. 

 
2.5 In creating its policy, South Kesteven District Council does not seek to provide a 

definitive list of vehicles it considers to be suitable (subject to use) for exemption 
from the requirement to display external identification plates. 

 
2.6 This guidance provides information to potential applicants on the standards of 

vehicle comfort and equipment that the Authority considers should be the minimum 
standard of comfort and vehicle type before the Authority would consider such an 
application.  This guidance should be read in conjunction with the Authority’s 
existing policy relating to private hire vehicles as it establishes additional criteria 

Deleted: Council’s 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Councils 

99



 

82 
 

that the Authority (and its officers) will take into account when determining 
applications for a private hire vehicle to be exempt from displaying external 
identification plates. 

 
3 The Policy 
 
3.1 Exemptions from displaying external identification plates (vehicle licence plates) 

may be in respect of individual vehicles only.  Applications for exemptions relating 
to a fleet of vehicles will not be allowed. 

 
3.2 Each application will be assessed on its own merit and each vehicle will be 

inspected by an authorised officer to ensure that it is fit for purpose. 
 
3.3 Applications for exemption from the requirement to display an external 

identification plate on the rear of a private hire vehicle may be considered where 
the following requirements are met; 

 
a) Vehicle models must be either four door saloons, or five door estates or five 

door hatchbacks.  Applications will not normally be accepted in respect of 
people carrier type vehicles. 

b) Vehicles must be of a high standard of comfort and equipped to a level equal 
to or above luxury brands of vehicles such as “S” and “E” Class Mercedes 
Benz, 7 Series BMW, Lexus “GS” or “LS” models, Audi A8 series, Jaguar, Rolls 
Royce and Bentley saloons.  (The highest specification executive type cars 
from other manufacturers may also be considered). 

c) The vehicle will be in pristine condition with no visible defects, dents or 
blemishes to the external bodywork or internal trim and seating. 

d) The type of work undertaken is “executive” in nature.  This means that the 
vehicle is used specifically to provide transport under a contract to a company 
or person, or by the type of clients who for security or personal safety reasons 
would not want the vehicle to be identifiable. 
 

3.4 Applications may only be made by a person holding a private hire operator’s licence 
issued by South Kesteven District Council.  

 
3.5 Where a proprietor wishes to make an application for a vehicle to be exempt from 

displaying an external identification plate they will be required to complete the 
appropriate application form.  The application form will be accompanied by 
documentation that supports the application and the application fee; which will be 
non-refundable. 

 
3.6 The Council may require applicants to provide any additional documentation as 

reasonably necessary to allow the Council to make an informed decision.  Where 
such documentation is not provided to the satisfaction of the Council the application 
will be refused. 

 
3.7 South Kesteven District Council is entitled to recover its costs relating to the 

administration of applications for an exemption notice and the issue of the 
exemption notice where applications are granted and may charge such fees as it 
believes are appropriate to recover all or part of those costs.   

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: council 

100



 

83 
 

 
3.8 The fee to accompany an application for an exemption notice is detailed in the 

Council’s fees and charges which is reviewed annually and is non-refundable. 
 

3.9 Where an application is granted and a vehicle is exempted from displaying its 
external identification plate an exemption notice will be issued as soon as practical 
after the decision is made. 

 
3.10 Where a vehicle is exempted from the requirement to display an external 

identification plate the vehicle will also be exempted from the need to display the 
internal identification plate. 

 
3.11 Irrespective of when an exemption notice is granted the initial exemption notice will 

expire on the same day as the expiration of the vehicles current private hire 
licence, unless it is otherwise surrendered or revoked.  Thereafter any renewed 
exemption notice will last for a period of time that is coterminous with that vehicle’s 
private hire licence unless either the licence or notice is otherwise surrendered or 
revoked. 

 
3.12 Exemption notices may be renewed annually subject to the vehicle undergoing a re-

inspection by an AuthorisedOfficer to ensure that it continues to be  fit for 
purpose.  The annual renewal fee for an exemption notice is detailed in the 
Council’s fees and charges which is reviewed annually  and is non-refundable. 

 
3.13 The Authority to determine any application for an exemption notice is by virtue of 

this guidance delegated by the Council to Authorised Officers.   
 

3.14 In the event of an applicant being dissatisfied with the decision of the officer, the 
applicant may make a written application for a review of the decision by the 
Licensing Committee. 

 
3.15 Other than where to do so would conflict with the requirements of this guidance, all 

vehicles granted an exemption notice must, in addition to the requirements of this 
guidance, comply with the requirements for private hire vehicles contained within 
the Authority’s Information – Taxi and Private Hire Licensing document and the 
Council’s Bye Laws. 

 
3.16 THE BELOW CONDITIONS APPLY TO ALL PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 

GRANTED AN EXEMPTION BY SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL FROM 
THE REQUIREMENT TO DISPLAY AN EXTERNAL IDENTIFICATION PLATE, 
AND ARE IN ADDITION TO THE CRITERIA AND CONDITIONS SET OUT IN 
SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL’S INFORMATION – TAXI AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY AND THE COUNCIL’S BYE LAWS. 

 
The identification plate and exemption notice provided by the Authority pursuant 
to requirements of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
shall remain the property of the Authority. 

 
a) Any vehicle granted an exemption from displaying an external identification plate 

will be required to have the identification plate normally displayed on the rear of 

Deleted: £30 

Deleted:  Licensing 

Deleted: will be £20 

Deleted: to the Council’s

Deleted:  Licensing Officer(s).

Deleted: Councils 

Deleted: VEHCILES

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council

101



 

84 
 

the vehicle, affixed to the inside of the boot lid.  The plate when so affixed must 
be readily visible when that boot lid is raised. 

b) In the event of loss or damage rendering such plate or notice unserviceable the 
proprietor shall make immediate application for a replacement for which a fee is 
payable. 

c) The exemption notice issued by the Authority will be carried in the vehicle at all 
times and will be produced upon request to an authorised officer of the Authority 
or any Police Officer. 

d) When issued with an exemption notice, the vehicle will not be required to display 
any other signs (including the internal identification plate) which the Authority 
may at any time require private hire vehicles to display. 

e) The proprietor will not display in on or from the vehicle any advertisement, 
signage, logos or insignia advertising the operating company or the vehicles 
status as a private hire vehicle. 

f) During the period of the exemption notice, the driver shall not be required to wear 
the private hire driver’s identification badge but will have it available for 
immediate inspection by the authorised officer of the Authority or any  Police 
Officer on request. 

g) During the period of the exemption notice the driver of the vehicle whilst engaged 
on private hire work will be smartly dressed in for example, a formal chauffeur or 
business suit with collar and tie. 

h) The proprietor shall within 1 working day notify the Authority of any  change in 
the use of the vehicle. 

i) The proprietor shall not use the vehicle for private hire purposes other than for 
executive use (ie normal daily private hire use). 

j) The driver and passenger front side window glass and the front windscreen must 
be clear.  However, tinted windows can be fitted to the side and rear window glass 
of the vehicle provided that they comply with current legislation. 

k) The exemption will cease to have effect on selling or transferring the vehicle to 
another party.  The person to whom the exemption is granted must inform the 
council Authority of the sale/transfer of ownership immediately and in writing and 
provide details of the new owner.  The exemption notice must be returned to the 
Authority along with the private hire vehicle identification plate unless being sold 
to another private hire operator licensed by the Authority; in which  case, only 
the exemption notice has to be returned. 

m) A taximeter will not be installed in the vehicle. 
 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council 

Deleted: Council

102



Page 58: [1] Deleted   Author    
 

 

103



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Review of Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy 

Lead officer:
Anne-Marie Coulthard
Assessors:
Anne-Marie Coulthard

Service Area:
Environmental 

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

05/06/20

105

Appendix 2



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy
This is a review of the existing policy which was adopted in March 2015.  
The policy set out the requirements and standards that must be met by 
licence holders and applicants and will guide the work of the Authority in 
the way in which it carries out its function. 

Is this a new or existing policy? Existing

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative.
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Positive The policy ensures the 
protection of children and 
vulnerable adults and contains  
measures throughout to 
ensure all licensees are fit and 
proper persons to hold a 
licence. The review also 
introduces mandatory 
Safeguarding Awareness 
refresher training alongside the 
mandatory initial training. 

Disability Positive The policy ensures that drivers 
and operators are aware of the 
requirements of the Equality 
Act 2010 and their 
responsibilities and confirms 
that the authority maintains a 
register of wheelchair 
accessible vehicles.  

106



All drivers are required to carry 
assistance dogs and to provide 
reasonable assistance with 
luggage.  

Drivers who are unable to 
assist for their own medical 
reasons are able to obtain an 
exemption. 

The policy provides for 
maximum age of wheelchair 
accessible vehicles to be 
increased to 12 years from 10 
years and for a reduction in fee 
for such vehicles, helping to 
support the availability of 
accessible vehicles. 

Race Negative The policy proposes that 
applicants for private hire 
vehicle or hackney carriage 
driver licences will be required 
to undertake an assessment of 
their communication skills, for 
which an additional fee will be 
payable. Applicants who can 
demonstrate that they have 
previously completed an 
English-language qualification 
at a suitable level will be 
exempt from the additional 
assessment (see general 
comments below)

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy

Religion or 
Belief  

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy

Sex

  

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy

107



Sexual 
Orientation

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Neutral Not a determinant of this policy 

Carers Positive Where a vehicle is wheelchair 
accessible, drivers are 
required to provide assistance 
to allow a disabled person to 
travel in their wheelchair if they 
wish.  This promotes 
independence and potentially 
enables people to travel 
without a carer in some 
circumstances. 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

None identified

General 
comments

The Authority expects all licensed taxi and private hire drivers to 
have sufficient command of the English language so that they 
can communicate freely and clearly with passengers and 
officials, including in stressful and emergency situations. Drivers 
are also expected to be able to identify situations where there 
may be passenger safeguarding concerns and to possess 
sufficient communication skills to report those concerns. The 
ability to converse effectively in English also helps avoid job 
related misunderstandings such as wrong directions, fare 
disputes, collecting the wrong customer and misunderstanding a 
customer’s assistance needs. 

Regardless of any protected characteristics, drivers are required 
to treat all customers with dignity and respect 
 

108



3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

Public consultation will be carried out as part of the policy determination 
process

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

109



If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Anne-Marie Coulthard
(Name and title) Head of Environment

Date completed: 05/06/20 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    05/06/20

110



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21

Work Programme 

Item Current Issues/Status Date Outcome sought

Hackney Carriage 
Policy for 
Consultation 

Following discussion of options for the new policy at the 
February 2020 meeting, Committee are asked to consider the 
final policy.

To consider the final Hackney 
Carriage Policy, and if appropriate, 
recommend that Cabinet goes out to 
consultation

Update from the 
Climate Change Task 
and Finish Group

Verbal Update from the Chair of the Climate Change Task & 
Finish Group, Councillor Dr Peter Moseley

To consider any recommendations 
from the Task & Finish Group as 
appropriate, and where necessary 
make recommendations to Cabinet

Update on re-wilding Verbal update regarding the ongoing re-wilding consultation and 
trial project

To understand progress, feed back 
suggestions for the trial scheme, and 
make recommendations to Officers 
on the next steps as necessary

Work Programme 
2020/21

To consider which items within the Committee’s remit should be 
considered during the 2020/21 municipal year

23 June 
2020, 
10:30am 
(virtual)

To populate and agree the draft work 
programme

Performance 
Indicators To consider performance information against agreed indicators

To consider which areas have poor 
or good performance, make 
recommendations for improvement 
or for continued success, and to feed 
back to Officers or make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary

21 July 
2020, 
10:30am 
(virtual)

6 October 
2020, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC)

111

A
genda Item

 9



Item Current Issues/Status Date Outcome sought

8 
December 
2020, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC)

Performance 
Indicators To consider performance information against agreed indicators

To consider which areas have poor 
or good performance, make 
recommendations for improvement 
or for continued success, and to feed 
back to Officers or make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary

26 
January 
2021, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC)

20 April 
2021, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC)

112



Unscheduled items
Alcohol, 
Entertainment and 
Leisure Licensing 
Policy

The policy is due for review in January 2021. The Committee is 
asked to assess the existing policy, successes, failures, gaps, 
and areas which can be built upon

TBC

To review the existing policy and 
make recommendations for the 
renewed policy ahead of 
presentation to Cabinet

REMIT
The remit of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of 
policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to:

 Air Quality
 Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing (Policy) 

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134
&p=0 (2016 policy due for review January 2021)

 Allotments
 Animal Welfare licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: 

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305)
 Business Trade & Licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no 

policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063)

 Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and 
Management

 Dog breeding & control orders
 Domestic Waste & Recycling Management
 Energy Efficiency
 Estate and Grounds Maintenance
 Flooding
 Food Hygiene and Safety

 Gambling & Lotteries licensing (Policy) 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537
&p=0 (2020 policy due for review January 2022)

 Health & Safety
 Noise
 Public Conveniences
 Renewable Energy
 Scrap Metal Dealers
 Street Lighting
 Street Services and Green Open Space Management
 Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system (Policy) 

(guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317)

 Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing (Policy) 
(policy currently under review)

 Wild animal licensing (Policy) (no local policy. 
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal) 

Membership 7

113

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 25 February 2020
	6 Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
	Appendix 1 Draft Policy
	Appendix 2 Equality Impact Assessment

	9 2020/21 Committee Work Programme

